Stamford Vair Clirehugh (1868–1943), a distant cousin of mine, is my entry point to the Lacey family. Stamford was the partner of Ernest Matthew Lacey in the electrical engineering firm of Lacey, Clirehugh & Sillar. He was also a family friend of Ernest's and lived with Ernest's wife Emma as a married couple. I have found no marriage record for Stamford and Emma. Emma, who died before Stamford, was, in her probate record, named as Emma Lacey, the wife of Ernest.

This family lived in England.

This document is an inventory of the records I have seen and the correspondences I have had regarding the Lacey family. I began my research in June 2006 after a phone call from Matthew C. Lacey, a grandson of Ernest, after he discovered my Clirehugh family information. My biggest partner in the research has been Lorna Cowan, a descendant of Ernest's brother Thomas William Lacey. Thank you Lorna! She publishes her genealogy at http://wc.rootsweb.ancestry.com/cgibin/igm.cgi?op=REG&db=haydencowan&id=11765

Contents

Pedigree Diagrams1
Birth, Marriage, and Death Dates2
Census Records10
1841 Census11
1851 Census 12
1861 Census14
1871 Census
1881 Census
1891 Census
1901 Census
1911 Census
Other Records
Barton Family
Travels to NYC
Ancestry World Tree
Birth Records
Marriage Records

Divorce Records
Death Records
Phone Books
Directories
Newspapers
School Records
Information from Lorna Cowan
Information from Vair Carr Lacey 2006
The Institution of Engineering and
Technology
RAF Records
Robert Richard Bignell43
Butts Estate, Brentford, West London
Rosary Cemetery, Norwich45
Barton Family
Warner Family47
Mysteries

Pedigree Diagrams

There are five pages of diagrams in a separate PDF file:

- 1. William Randall Lacey (1826–1906) with his parents and siblings.
- 2. William Randall Lacey (1826–1906) with his wife Amelia, their children, and her parents. William and Amelia were the parents of Ernest Matthew Lacey.
- 3. Ernest Matthew Lacey (1866–1945) with his wife Emma, their children, and her parents.
- 4. Annie Amelia Lacey (1852–1891) with her husband and children; and Thomas William Lacey (1850–1905) with his wife and children. Anne was a sister of Emma, Annie and Thomas were children of William Randall Lacey.
- 5. Frederick William Lacey (1856–1915) with wife and children; Julia Lacey (1859–) with two husbands and children; and Kate Lacey (1858-) with two husbands and children. These three were children of William Randall Lacey.

Birth, Marriage, and Death Dates

William Lacey	2-13-1758	christening	Witton, near North Walsham, Norfolk
Elizabeth Crane	1-17-1762	christening	St Nicholas, Potter Heigham, Norfolk
William Lacey, Elizabeth Crane	10-31-1780	marriage	All Saint's, Filby, Norfolk by banns
Robert Clarke	Oct. 1781	birth	Haddleigh, Suffolk
John Lacey	1784	birth	Potter Heigham, Norfolk; per Lorna Cowan
John Lacey	10-2-1785	christening	St Nicholas, Potter Heigham, Norfolk
Elizabeth Randall	12-20-1792	birth	Wells Next The Sea, Norfolk; per Lorna Cowan
Elizabeth Randall	12-31-1792	christening	St Nicholas, Wells-Next-The-Sea, Norfolk
William Willcocks Sleigh	5-1796	birth	Cove (now Cobh), County Cork, Ireland
Frederick Edward Clarke	12-20-1806	birth	Haddleigh, Suffolk
Frederick Edward Clarke	1-2-1807	christening	Haddleigh, Suffolk
John Lacey Elizabeth Randall	6-3-1811	marriage	Wells Next The Sea, Norfolk; per Lorna Cowan
James Wilkins Lacey	9-18-1811	birth	
James Wilkins Lacey	9-29-1811	christening	St. Benedict, Norwich, Norfolk
John Grimwood Lacey	6-4-1813	christening	St. Giles, Norwich, Norfolk
Elizabeth Lacey	10-26-1815	birth	
Elizabeth Lacey	10-29-1815	christening	St. Giles, Norwich, Norfolk
William Willcocks Sleigh, Sarah Campbell	1817	marriage	Dublin, Ireland
Edward Lacey, Elizabeth Sheppard	11-20-1817	marriage	Wymeswold parish [the date, Lacey, and Elizabeth fit]
Maria Lacey	1-12-1818	birth	
Maria Lacey	2-10-1818	christening	St. Giles, Norwich, Norfolk
William Campbell Sleigh	10-21-1818	birth	Dublin, Ireland
Emily Lacey	4-1-1820	birth	
Emily Lacey	5-5-1820	christening	St. Giles, Norwich, Norfolk
George Woodrow	6-17-1822	birth	(husband of Maria Lacey)
Amelia Warner	6-28-1824	birth	Mentmore, Berristead, Buckinghamshire
William Randal Lacey	8-26-1824	birth	
William Randal Lacey	8-28-1824	christening	St. Giles, Norwich, Norfolk
William Randal Lacey	10-19-1825	burial	St Peter Parmentergate, Norwich, Norfolk
Matilda Warner	11-29-1825	born	Berrystead, Buckinghamshire

The following records are in chronological order.

Matilda Warner	8-8-1826	christening	Eaton Bray, Bedfordshire
William Randall Lacey	9-7-1826	birth	Norwich, Norfolk; per Lorna Cowan
William Randall Lacey	10-29-1826	christening	St. Peter Parmentergate, Norwich, Norfolk
Amelia Elizabeth Clarke	9-13-1827	birth	Norwich, Norfolk
Amelia Elizabeth Clarke	9-23-1827	christening	St. Clement, Norwich, Norfolk
Eleanor (Large) Clarke	1-23-1829	burial	St Michael Coslany, Norwich, Norfolk
Henry Lacey	6-4-1829	birth	Norwich, Norfolk; son of Philip Lacey, weaver, and Eliza
Henry Lacey	6-7-1829	christening	St Martin at Oak, Norwich, Norfolk
Sarah Anne White	7-7-1829	birth	(wife of Horace Lacey, son of John)
Henry [Christopher] Lacey	12-22-1830	birth	St John Timberhill, Norwich, Norfolk son of John Lacey, plasterer, and Elizabeth [Randall]
Henry [Christopher] Lacey	1-16-1831	christening	St John Timberhill with All Saints, Norwich, Norfolk
Frederic Edward Clarke Mary Ann Chambers	6-12-1832	marriage	St Bartholomew Bt, Heigham, Norfolk; groom a widower
Thomas Grimwood Lacey	4-21-1833	christening	St John's, Maddermarket, Norwich, Norfolk
Rachel Fanny Braithwaite Price	1Q 1838	birth	Camberwell, Surrey
Elizabeth (Crane) Lacey	6-11-1839	death	St John's, Timberhill, Norwich, Norfolk
Elizabeth (Crane) Lacey	6-13-1839	burial	St Michael at Thorn, Norwich, Norfolk
Robert Richard Bignell, Emma Soket	4-6-1840	marriage	St. Martins (in the Fields), Middlesex
Nicholas Pullyn	4Q 1842	marriage	Lambeth, London
William Campbell Sleigh, Amelia Warner	1-25-1843	marriage	Waterperry, Oxfordshire
William Arthur Warner Sleigh	12-17-1843	birth	Brentford, Middlesex
Anne Howell	3-24-1844	christening	St. Cuthbert, Darlington, Durham
Mary Jane Pullyn	2Q 1844	birth	Lambeth, London, Surrey
Thomas Grimwood Lacey	9-14-1846	death	Princes Street, Norwich, Norfold (accident)
Thomas Grimwood Lacey	9-18-1846	burial	St George Tombland, Norwich, Norfolk
James Wilkins Lacey, Lucy Aves	4Q 1846	marriage	Norwich, Norfolk

Lacey Family known to Clirehugh

Charlotte Sarah Sleigh	1Q 1847	birth	Brentford, Middlesex; do not know who she is, may be sister to William Arthur W. Sleigh
Emma Alice Bignell	2Q 1847	birth	St James Westminster, London, Middlesex
Fanny Pullyn	3Q 1848	birth	Lambeth, London, Surrey
Alice Scott Linch Howett	1-25-1849	birth	Norwich, Norfolk
Alice Scott Linch Howett	3-14-1849	christening	St. Peter Mancroft, Norwich, Norfolk
Everard William Barton	6-8-1849	birth	
William Randall Lacey, Amelia Clarke	12-27-1849	marriage	St. Peter's, Canongate Norwich, Norfolk he: carpenter, his father: plasterer her father: Frederic Edward Clarke, tunist (piano tuner) both lived in St. Peter's, Canongate
Thomas William Lacey	10-9-1850	birth	Norwich, Norfolk
Frederick George Barton	8-29-1851	birth	
Henry Lacey, Rosa Jane Beales [must be Henry Christopher Lacey]	9-20-1851	marriage	register office, Norwich, Norfolk he: age 20; draper; father John Lacey, builder she: age 18; father Robert Beales, publican witnesses: William R. Lacey, Amelia Lacey
Horace Lacey, ?	4Q 1851	marriage	Norwich, Norfolk
Annie Amelia Lacey	3Q 1852	birth	Norwich, Norfolk
Charles Tom Barton	3-6-1853	birth	
Philip Pullyn	6-27-1853	birth	Lambeth, London, Surrey
Helen Howett	8-27-1855	christening	Suffolk
Frederick William Lacey	10-2-1855	birth	Norwich, Norfolk
Henry Christopher Lacey, Susannah Platten	7-7-1857	marriage, by license	St. Paul, Norwich, Norfolk he: bachelor; architect; father Philip Lacey [John Philip Lacey?], grocer she: spinster; father John Platten, innkeeper witnesses: John Platten, Amelia Lacey
Kate Lacey	1-12-1858	birth	Norwich, Norfolk
Christopher Thomas Lacey, ?	4Q 1858	marriage	Norwich, Norfolk [may be son of John Lacey]
Julia Lacey	3Q 1859	birth	Norwich, Norfolk
Frederick Cato Moore	4Q 1862	birth	Lambeth, London, Surrey
William Arthur Warner Sleigh, Rachel Fanny Braithwaite Price	4Q 1863	marriage	Kensington, Middlesex

William Willcox Sleigh	12-30-1863	death	Lambeth, Surrey (Abbey Lodge, St. John's Wood)
Elizabeth (Lacey) Chaston	5-10-1864	died	Heigham
Elizabeth (Lacey) Chaston	5-15-1864	burial	Rosary Cemetery, Norwich
Anne Rachel Warner Sleigh	10-24-1864	birth	Walsall, Staffordshire [daughter of William Arthur Warner Sleigh]
Jane A. Lacey, George F Robinson	4Q 1866	marriage	Norwich, Norfolk
Ernest Matthew Lacey	9-21-1866	birth	Wandsworth, Surrey
Martha Pullyn	3Q 1868	death	Lambeth, London, Surrey
William Arthur Warner Sleigh, Emma Alice Bignell	1-15-1869	marriage	Christ Church, Turnham Green, Middlesex
Frederic Edward Clarke	3-15-1869	death	Norwich, Norfolk; after suffering chronic liver disease for one year
Mary Jane Pullyn, Walter Weston Goss	4Q 1869	marriage	Lambeth, London, Surrey
Emma Warner Sleigh	6-20-1870	birth	Chiswick, Middlesex
Elizabeth (Randall) Lacey	6-19-1871	death	Norwich, Norfolk; per Lorna Cowan
Elizabeth (Randall) Lacey	6-23-1871	burial	Rosary Cemetery, Norwich
William Mead Warner	2Q 1874	death	Kensington, Greater London; age 85; may be man with whom William A.W. Sleigh lived in 1861
Arthur Falconer Hayden	3Q 1874	birth	Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, Gloucestershire, Oxfordshire
Annie Amelia Lacey, Frank William Howett	4Q 1874	marriage	Wandsworth, London, Surrey
Elsie Marguerite Howett	2Q 1875	birth	Wandsworth, London, Surrey
William Arthur Warner Sleigh, Emma Alice Bignell	11-16-1877	divorce	Westminster
Kate Lacey, John Charles Juta	4Q 1877	marriage	London City, London, Middlesex
William Arthur W. Sleigh, Georgina Philipina Kühn	2Q 1878	marriage	St. Giles, Middlesex
Henry Christopher Lacey	3-3-1881	burial	City of London & Tower Hamlets Cemetery, Middlesex
John Lacey	8-25-1882	death	Norwich, Norfolk
John Lacey	8-29-1882	burial	Rosary Cemetery, Norwich
Frederick William Lacey, Louisa Brown	3Q 1882	marriage	Camberwell, London, Surrey

Frederick George Barton, Anne Rachel Warner Sleigh	9-28-1882	marriage	
John Grimwood Lacey	12-16-1882	death	St. George Tomland
John Grimwood Lacey	12-21-1882	burial	Rosary Cemetery, Norwich
Gladys Angele I P Juta	3Q 1883	birth	Lambeth, London, Surrey
John Carl Juta	8-8-1883	death	6, Stockwell Rd, Clapham of Diptheria
Emily (Lacey) Andrews	2-21-1884	death	Clapham
Emily (Lacey) Andrews	2-26-1884	burial	Rosary Cemetery, Norwich
Julia Lacey, Frederick Cato Moore	1Q 1884	marriage	Lambeth, London, Surrey
Frederick Cato Moore	4Q 1884	birth	Lambeth, London, Surrey
John Cato Moore	4Q 1884	birth	Lambeth, London, Surrey
Frederick Cato Moore	1Q 1885	death	Lambeth, London, Surrey
Dorothy Agnes Lacey	2Q 1885	birth	Brentford, Middlesex
Thomas William Lacey, Elizabeth Robinson	3-29-1886	marriage	St. Michaels, Middlesex Thomas lived at 47 Grafton Square, Clapham; accountant. Elizabeth lived in Bowes Park; father William Robinson; witnesses Kate Juta, Sidney Alfred Robinson.
Kate (Lacey) Juta, Philip Pullyn	4-23-1886	marriage	Marylebone, London, Middlesex
William Campbell Sleigh	1-23-1887	death	Ventnor, Isle of Wight, Hampshire
Dorothy Agnes Lacey	2-11-1887	birth	New Jersey, USA
Nicholas Pullyn	4Q 1887	death	Lambeth, London, Surrey
Ethel Mary Lacey	2Q 1888	birth	Brentford, Middlesex
Ernest Matthew Lacey, Emma Warner Sleigh	8-1-1888	marriage	Christ Church, Streatham, Surrey
Robert Richard Bignell	7-17-1888	death	Brentford, Middlesex
Mary Ann Clarke	7-15-1889	death	Rectory Grove, Clapham, London
Robert Markwell Sleigh Lacey	6-25-1889	birth	Glenthorne, Brentford, Middlesex
Robert Markwell Sleigh Lacey	8-15-1889	baptism	St George, Old Brentford, Middlesex
Philip Lacey Pullyn	4Q 1889	birth	Wandsworth, London, Surrey (Streatham)
Robert S. Lacey	1890	birth	Brentford, Middlesex
Ruth Campbell Lacey	11-26-1890	birth	New Jersey, USA
Margaret Archibald Lacey	3Q 1890	birth	Christchurch, Hampshire
Ernest Frank Sleigh Lacey	7-14-1890	birth	Brentford, Middlesex

Ernest Frank Sleigh Lacey	8-28-1890	death	Brentford, Middlesex age 8 months; burial at St Lawrence Churchyard, Brentford, Middlesex
Gerald Kessick Bowes	12-4-1890	birth	Herne Bay, Kent
Maria (Lacey) Woodrow	5-1-1891	death	London
Maria (Lacey) Woodrow	5-6-1891	burial	Rosary Cemetery, Norwich
Frank Philip Sleigh Lacey	3Q 1891	birth	Brentford, Middlesex; volume 3a, page 76
William Lacey	3Q 1891	birth	Brentford, Middlesex; volume 32, page 141; there is no evidence that this man is a son of Ernest Matthew Lacey (although the year and place are suggestive), I now believe he is not
Annie Amelia (Lacey) Howett	10-13-1891	death of Addisons, anemia, and exhaustion	Hyde, Albemarle Road, Beckenham, Bromley, Greater London, Kent
Mabel Lilian Barton	3Q 1892	birth	Warwick, Warwickshire
Emma Warner Lacey, Ernest Matthew Lacey	8-18-1893	divorce filed	dismissed 4-30-1895
George Woodrow	12-26-1893	death	London (husband of Maria Lacey)
George Woodrow	12-29-1893	burial	Rosary Cemetery, Norwich
James Wilkins Lacey	3-25-1894	death	Norwich, Norfolk
James Wilkins Lacey	3-29-1894	burial	Rosary Cemetery, Norwich
Everard Arthur Barton	2Q 1894	birth	Warwick, Warwickshire
Edward Arbuthnot Lacey	10-22-1894	birth	Ribblesdale, Dorking, Surrey; parents Emma Warner (Sleigh) Lacey and Edward Henry Adcock; two birth registrations—as Lacey and Adcock
Thomas Francis V. Lacey	1896	birth	New Jersey, USA
Amabilis May Arbuthnot Adcock Amabilis May Arbuthnot Lacey (daughter of Emma Warner (Sleigh) Lacey and Edward Harry Adcock)	5-15-1896	birth	Ribblesdale, Dorking, Surrey; two birth registrations—as Lacey and Adcock
Amelia Elizabeth (Clarke) Lacey	4-14-1897	death	Woodstock Road, Cheswick, Middlesex of heart disease (aortic regurgitation?), husband was surveyor
Elsie Marguerite Howett, Malcolm Carey Adamson	4Q 1897	married	Windsor, Berkshire, Surrey
Henry James Juta	3Q 1898	death	Brentford, Middlesex

Horace Lacey	4-8-1899	death	Norwich, Norfolk
Edward Arbuthnot Lacey	5-13-1899	baptism	St. John's, Middlesex, a private baptism
Horace Lacey		burial	Rosary Cemetery, Norwich
Ernest Vair Sleigh Lacey	7-17-1900	birth	Kensington district, London
Louisa Lacey	4Q 1900	death	Lambeth, London, Surrey
William Arthur Sleigh	2Q 1901	birth	Wandsworth district; who??
Ernest M Lacey, civil engineer; wife Emma W Lacey	3-31-1901	census: visitor	2 Queens Ann Gate, Parish St. Margaret & St John Christchurch, Westminster, London; see family below
William Warner Sleigh Lacey	3-13-1902	birth	16 Kensington Court, Kensington, London
Fanny Pullyn	4Q 1904	death	Wandsworth, London, Surrey
Thomas Francis V Lacey	2-16-1905	death	Rochford, Essex
Sara Anne (White) Lacey	12-1-1905	death	Norwich
Sara Anne (White) Lacey		burial	Rosary Cemetery, Norwich
William Randall Lacey	6-23-1906	death	44 Gaskartt Road, Balham, Streatham, London; of valvular disease of the heart; retired architect and surveyor, age 80
Amelia Sleigh	4Q 1906	death	Bedford, Bedfordshire; age 82 [birth about 1824, so may be Amelia Warner Sleigh]
Arthur Thomas Andrews	5-25-1907	death	Chiswick (husband of Emily Lacey)
Arthur Thomas Andrews	5-30-1907	burial	Rosary Cemetery, Norwich
Dorothy Agnes Lacey, not sure, may be William Ferdinand Tyler ¹	2Q 1907	marriage	Christchurch, Hampshire
Gladys Angele I P Juta, Cyril Paul Bathurst	4-30-1908	marriage	Holy Trinity, Upper Tooting, London
Philip Pullyn	3Q 1908	death	Strand, London, Middlesex
Elizabeth Croton (Robinson) Lacey	1-27-1909	death	West London Hospital, Fulham, London of peritonitus, heart failure, age 48
Carol Cyril D Bathurst (male)	1Q 1909	birth	Guildford, Surrey
Evelyn Mary Barton	3Q 1910	marriage	Bedford, Bedfordshire
Ruth C. Lacey, Arthur F. Hayden	2Q 1912	marriage	East Preston, Sussex

¹ A Frederick William Tyler was born 2nd 1908 in Brentford, Middlesex. That baby could be a grandson of Frederick William Lacey.

Ethel M. Lacey, not sure, maybe Henry C Burt	2Q 1913	marriage	Christchurch, Hampshire
Constance E C Barton, Algernon H. Smith	4Q 1913	marriage	St Pancras, London
Robert Markwell Sleigh Lacey, Sybil Blanche Dunn	3Q 1914	marriage	Wandsworth, Surrey
Frederick William Lacey	1915	death	Hartismers; recorded 1Q 1916
Thomas William Lacey	11-1-1915	death	12 St. Stephens Road, Paddington, London of degeneration of the heart and blood vessels accelerated by pneumonia
Frank Philip Sleigh Lacey	3-29-1918	death	died in WW I, buried Suez War Memorial Cemetery, Egypt; Second Lieutenant Regiment/Service: Royal Flying Corps Secondary Regiment: Army Service Corps Secondary Unit; grave/memorial B.42. Father lived at 12, Victoria St., Westminster, London.
Dorothy Agnes Lacey, Gerald Kessick Bowes	7-4-1918	marriage	St. James the Apostle, Knatchbull Road, Lambeth, Surrey
William Warner Sleigh Lacey	11-20-1921	death: diptheria, Vincent's angina (aka trenth- mouth), streptococcal meningitis	Eastern Hospital, Homerton, Hackney, London
Amabilis May Arbuthnot Sleigh, George Harold Frank Girling	9-13-1924	marriage	Marylebone, London the bride's birth was recorded as Lacey and Adcock, her mother was Emma Warner (Sleigh) Lacey
Anthony F. W. Girling	1Q 1925	birth	Edmonton, Middlesex, London
Ernest Vair Sleigh Lacey, Eleanor Gwndolyn Carr	12-21-1927	marriage	All Saints Highgate, Hornsey, Middlesex
Vair Carr Lacey	4-14-1929	birth	Winchester, Hants
Emma Warner Sleigh Lacey	5-19-1929	death	95 Cromwell Road, Hove, Sussex (where she lived with Stamford Vair Clirehugh)
Philip Lacey Pullyn	5-28-1930	death	duodenal ulcer (Glenda has death certificate)

Ernest Vair Sleigh Lacey	11-24-1931	death	died in plane crash at RAF Aerodrome, Kenley, Coulsdon, Surrey. RAF Flight Officer late of The Royal Air Force Station, Kenley, and of "Wold Croft," Hornchurch Lane, Whyteleafe, Surrey; buried St. Luke Churchyard, Whyteleafe, Surrey
Frederick James Lacey	4-12-1932	death	Lakenham (son of Horace)
Frederick James Lacey	4-15-1932	burial	Rosary cemetery, Norwich
Kate (Lacey) Pullyn	7-23-1944	death	age 86
Kate (Lacey) Pullyn		burial	Kawakawa Cemetery, Russell, Nw Zealand
Ernest Matthew Lacey	4-16-1945	death	Willesden; lived 74 Gloucester Road, Kensington, London
Ernest Matthew Lacey	8-21-1945	burial	Golders Green Crematorium, London
Robert Markwell Sleigh Lacey	9-9-1952	death	40 Antrobus Street, Westminster, London
Gerald Kessick Bowes	10-20-1955	death	Bedford, Bedfordshire
Vair Carr Lacey, Pamela Goldsworthy	3-15-1958	marriage	San Diego, California, USA
Matthew C Lacey	5-4-1966	birth	Los Angeles County, California; mother's maiden name Goldsworthy (?)
Dorothy Agnes (Lacey) Bowes	3Q 1971	death	Bedford, Befordfordshire
Philip Pullyn (son of Philip Lacey Pullyn)	2001	death	hit by car when pedestrian

Census Records

The following table recaps in which census I found entries for the key players in this family.

Name	Birth	1841	1851	1861	1871	1881	1891	1901	1911
William M. Warner	1789	✓	~	\checkmark					
Rachel Warner	1793	✓	✓						
Matilda Warner	1826	✓							
Amelia (Warner) Sleigh	1826	✓	✓	✓			✓	✓	
William Campbell Sleigh	1819	✓	✓	\checkmark					
Frederic Edward Clarke	1806	~	~	✓					
William Arthur Warner Sleigh	1843		✓	\checkmark	✓	✓			
Anne Rachel Warner (Sleigh) Barton	1865						✓	~	
Frederick George Barton	1851						✓	✓	

Name	Birth	1841	1851	1861	1871	1881	1891	1901	1911
Emma Warner (Sleigh) Lacey	1870				✓	✓	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark
John Lacey	1787	~	~	~	~	~			
William Randall Lacey	1830	~	~	~	~	~	~		
Ernest Matthew Lacey	1866				~	~	~	~	~

1841 Census

1841 census, Laceys in England

There were 2,126 Laceys in England, of them 144 people were born in Norfolk.

1841 census for St George Tombland, Norfolk Princes Street John Lacey 50, builder Elizabeth Lacey 45 James Lacey 25, plasterer Maria Lacey 20 Eliza Lacey 15 William Lacey 16, carpenter Horace Lacey 12 Henry Lacey 10 Thomas Lacey¹ 8 Jane Lacey 4 William Randall Lacey 15, occupation illegible

1841 census for Heigham, Norfolk

Julian Place

John Lacey	head, 31, bricklayer
Ann Lacey	wife, 25
Anna Lacey	daughter, 1

1841 census for St. Michaels at Corlany parish, Norwich, Norfolk

Duke Street

head, 30, musician
wife, 30
daughter, 13
daughter, 9
daughter, 7
daughter, 6
son, 4
son, 2
son, 7 months

1841 census for Manchester, Lancashire

Dorset Square

Adderly Sleigh	52, born about 1789 in Ireland; uncle
Eliza Sleigh	26, born about 1815 in Ireland; wife

¹ Lorna believes this is Thomas Grimwood Lacey (1833–1846).

William Campbell Sleigh	22, born about 1819 in Ireland (nephew)
Adderly Ceola Sleigh	10, born about 1831 in Manchester, Lancashire
Hamilton Mary Sleigh	8 yrs. 6 mos., born about 1832 in Manchester, Lancashire
Eliza Sleigh	5, born about 1836 in Manchester, Lancashire
William Sleigh	3 yrs. 6 mos, born about 1837 in Manchester, Lancashire
Francis Sleigh	1, born about 1840 in Manchester, Lancashire, female

1841 census for Waterperry, Oxfordshire

Thomley Hamlet of Waterperry

William M. Warner	head, 50, born in different county, farmer
Rachel Warner	wife, 45, born in different county
Amelia Warner	daughter, 15, born in different county
Matilda Warner	daughter, 15, born in different county

1841 census for Steeple Claydon, Buckingham, Buckinghamshire

at West End

Thomas Warner	head, 25, farmer, born Buckinghamshire
Elizabeth Warner	wife, 25, not born Buckinghamshire
Anne Warner	daughter, 5, born Buckinghamshire
Matilda Warner	daughter, 3, born Buckinghamshire
and two 15-year olds	

1841 census for St. Marylebone, Middlesex

Dorset Square

Richa Bignell	head, 30, born about 1811 in Middlesex, fishmonger
Elizabeth Bignell	wife, 25, born about 1816 in Middlesex, charwoman
William Bignell	son, 5, born about 1836 in Middlesex
Jane Bignell	daughter, 2, born about 1839 in Middlesex
Henry Spencer	born about 1833 in Middlesex

I don't think this is the parental family of Emma Bignell who married Sleigh.

1851 Census

There were 2,709 Laceys in England, of them 249 people were born in Norfolk.

1851 census for St. Stephen Parish, Norwich, Norfolk

No. 36 Surrey Streethead, 24, born in Norwich, Norfolk, master carpenter employing 5William R. Laceyhead, 24, born in Norwich, Norfolk, master carpenter employing 5men & 1 apprenticewife, 23, born in Norwich, NorfolkAmelia Laceywife, 23, born in Norwich, NorfolkThomas W. Laceyson, 6 mos., born in Norwich, Norfolk

Surrey Street

James W. Lacey head, 39, born about 1812 in Norwich, Norfolk, plasterer employs 3 men Lucy Lacey wife, 44, born about 1807 in South Creake, Norfolk 1 visitor, 1 lodger, 1 servant [James must be the brother of William R. Lacey]

1851 census for Norwich, Norfolk

12 Quckett's Court

John Lacey	head, 64, born in Potter Heigham, Norfolk, plasterer employs 2
men	
Elizabeth Lacey	wife, 57, born about 1794 in Wells, Norfolk
Horace Lacey	son, 22, born about 1829 in Norwich
Henry Lacey	son, 20, born about 1831 in Norwich
Jane Lacey	daughter, 15, born about 1835 in Norwich
2 lodgers	shoe manufacturer and pattern drawer
1 servant	*
parental family of William	Randall Lacey

1851 census for St. Peter's Hungate parish, Norwich, Norfolk

117 Princes Street

i inices street	
Frederic E. Clarke	head, 44, piano forte tuner, born Suffolk Hadleigh
Mary A. Clarke	wife, 43, born Jersey
Emily Clarke	daughter, 18, born Norfolk
Catherine Clarke	daughter, 16, born Norfolk
Frederic Clarke	son, 14, born Norfolk
Edward Clarke	son, 12, born Norfolk
Ellen Clarke	daughter, 8, born Norfolk
Roberee (?) Clarke	son, 6, born Norfolk
Alfred Clarke	son, 4, born Norfolk

1851 census for Neithrop, Oxfordshire

William M. Warner	head, 62, born about 1789 in Great Bricknell, Buckinghamshire
Rachel Warner	wife, 58, born about 1793 in Fenny Compton, Warwickshire
1 servant	

1851 census for Lillingstone Lovell , Buckinghamshire

Thomas Warner	head, 33, ag-labourer, born Leckhampstead, Buckinghamshire
Elizabeth Warner	wife, 30, born Wicken, Northamptonshire
Sophia Warner	daughter, 6, born Wicken, Northamptonshire
Frederick Warner	son, 2, born Lillingstone Lovell, Buckinghamshire

1851 census for Buckingham, Buckinghamshire

on West Street

Ann Warner15, scholar, born Woodstock, OxfordshireMatilda Warner12, scholar, born Woodstock, Oxfordshirewith three governesses (Maria, Eliza, and Rachael Huchberg) and one teacher (Mary Gibbs)[the names and ages match those of the children of Thomas and Elizabeth Warner, but not the birthlocation]

1851 census for Kensington

William C. Sleigh	head, 32, born Ireland, practicing barrister
Amelia Sleigh	wife, 26
William A. Sleigh	son, 7
3 servants	

1851 census for William A. W. Sleigh could not be found.

1851 (March 30) census for St James Westminster, Middlesex

No. 8 Great Windmill Street Robert Bignell

head, 39, widower, born about 1812 in Westminster, gentleman

Emma A. Bignell	daughter, 4, born Westminster
Martin Friend	nephew, born about 1834 in London
William Price	nephew, 16, born about 1835 in Birmingham
William Mason	cousin, 30, born about 1821 in London, gentleman
Sally Prince	cousin, 40, widow, born about 1811 Staffordshire, gentlewoman
George S. Byer	friend, 28, born about 1823 in London, gentleman
Polly Robinson	friend, 28, born about 1823 Staffordshire, lodger and maid
Ann Squire	servant, 23, born about 1828 Edmonton

George Byer may have been George Bryer who was a business partner in the Argyll Rooms. Martin Friend was the son of Richard's sister Mary Ann (Bignell) Friend. I could not find Robert Bignell in the 1841 census.

1851 census various locations, Robinson family

(from Lorna Cowan)

John E Bacon abt 1811 Tostock, Suffolk, England Brother-in-law Camberwell Surrey Ann Robinson abt 1773 Hartest, Suffolk, England Mother Camberwell Surrey Elizabeth Robinson abt 1810 Porlock, Suffolk, England Wife Camberwell Surrey Fanny Robinson abt 1846 Southwark, Surrey, England Daughter Camberwell Surrey Jane M Robinson abt 1839 East Harnham, Suffolk, England Daughter Camberwell Surrey Kate Robinson abt 1843 East Harnham, Suffolk, England Daughter Camberwell Surrey Louisa E Robinson abt 1841 East Harnham, Suffolk, England Daughter Camberwell Surrey Sarah A Robinson abt 1837 Thurston, Suffolk, England Daughter Camberwell Surrey William Robinson abt 1812 Stowupland, Suffolk, England Head Camberwell Surrey William S Robinson abt 1833 Thurston, Suffolk, England Son Camberwell Surrey

1861 Census

1861 census for Norwich St John Sepulchre, Norfolk

Chapel Lake

John Lacey	head, 75, born in Potter Heigham, Norfolk, retired builder
Elizabeth Lacey	wife, 68, born in Wells, Norfolk
Jane A. Lacey	daughter, 25, born in Norwich, Norfolk
2 boarders	C C

1861 census for Norwich St Peter per Mountgate, Norfolk

St Faiths Lane

William R. Lacey	head, 33, born in Norwich, Norfolk, carpenter and builder
Amelia Lacey	wife, 32, born in Norwich, Norfolk,
Annie Lacey	daughter, 8, born in Norwich, Norfolk, scholar
Frederick W. Lacey	son, 5, born in Norwich, Norfolk, scholar
Kate Lacey	daughter, 3, born in Norwich, Norfolk, scholar
Julia Lacey	daughter, 1, born in Norwich, Norfolk,
1 servant	

1861 census for St. James Clerkenwell, Middlesex

13 Cuminy Street

Nicholas Welton	head, 70, life insurance actuary, born Suffolk
Harriett Welton	wife, 63, born Hadleigh, Suffolk
five adult children	

Thomas Lacey visitor, 9, scholar, born Norwich, Norfolk [undoubtedly son of William Randall Lacey]

[this couple had a son named William Shakespeare Welton baptized 8-20-1937 in Clerkenwell, Middlesex

1861 census for St. Stephen, Norwich, Norfolk

126 Surrey Street

James W. Lacey	head, 49, born Norwich, builder, employs
Lucy Lacey	wife, 54, born Creake, Norfolk
Matthew Aves	father-in-law, 82, formerly town steward, born Mendenhall,
Suffolk	
1 servant	

1861 census for Ford, Durham

Ford Lane

Henry Lacey 30, married, born Norwich, Norfolk, stone merchant living with a married couple William & Elizabeth Stockdale

1861 census for Norwich St. Andrew, Norfolk

Bridge Street	
Horace Lacey	head, 32, plasterer, born Norwich
Sarah Lacey	wife, 31, born Norwich
Frederic I. Lacey	son, 6, born Norwich
Horace H. Lacey	son, 2, born Norwich
1 lodger and 1 servant	

1861 census for St. Peter's Hungate parish, Norwich, Norfolk

122 Princes Street Frederic

Frederic E. Clarke	head, 54, tunist, born Haddleigh, Suffolk
Mary Ann Clarke	wife, 53, born Jersey (British subject)
Frederic Clarke	son, 24, carpenter, born Norfolk
Edward Clarke	son, 22, cabinet maker, born Norfolk
Ellen Clarke	daughter, 18, born Norfolk

1861 census for Edmonton, Middlesex

William M. Warner	72, born about 1789 in Great Brickhill, Buckinghamshire
William A. W. Sleigh	visitor, 17, born about 1844 in Memmdamett, Middlesex
Matilda Warner	granddaughter, 23, born about 1838 in Waring Hale (or Worming
Hall), Buckinghamshire	
1 servant	

1861 census for Lillingstone Lovell , Buckinghamshire

at Lillingstone Hall

0	
Thomas Warner	head, 42, ag-labourer, born Leckhampstead, Buckinghamshire
(born about 1819)	
Elizabeth Warner	wife, 30, born Wicken, Northamptonshire
Sophia Warner	daughter, 16, lace maker, born Wicken, Northamptonshire
Edward Warner	son, 8, scholar, born Lillingstone Lovell, Buckinghamshire
next door	
James Warner	head, 39, carter, born Leckhampstead, Buckinghamshire (born
about 1822)	
Caroline Warner	wife, 39, born Bicester, Oxfordshire

Sarahann Warner	daughter, 16, lace maker, born Lillingstone Lovell,
Buckinghamshire	
Jane Warner	daughter, 11, lace maker, born Lillingstone Lovell,
Buckinghamshire	
James F. Warner	son, 9, plough boy, born Lillingstone Lovell, Buckinghamshire
May E. Warner	daughter, 8, scholar, born Lillingstone Lovell, Buckinghamshire
George W. Warner	son, 7, scholar, born Lillingstone Lovell, Buckinghamshire
Sarahann Newman	niece, 33, unmarried, lace maker, born Leckhampstead,
Buckinghamshire	
William Freeman	nephew, 16, ag-labourer, born Taunton, Oxfordshire
[I assume from this that James is	a younger brother of Thomas]

1861 census for St Marylebone, Middlesex

Cavendish Square

William Campbell Sleigh	42, head, born about 1819 in Ireland
Amelia Sleigh	36, wife, born about 1825 in Burystead, Buckinghamshire
and 3 female servants	

1861 census for St James Westminster, Middlesex

8 Carlton Chambers, Regent Street		
Robert K. Bignell	son, 49, married, born about 1812 in St Martins, Middlesex,	
victualler		
James Stacey	head, 75, born Bromley, Kent, porter	
Mary Stacey	wife, 66, born Richmond, Surrey	
Frederick Stacey	son, 27, born Richmond, Surrey, solicitors general clerk	
Ellen Webster	niece, 28, born Twickenham, Middlesex	
Henry A. Manning	grandson, 6, born Pimlico, Middlesex	

This Robert Bignell has some similarity to the father of Emma Alice (Bignell) Sleigh, but he was not a son of the Staceys. And where was Emma?

1861 census for Lambeth, Surrey

Nicholas Pullyn	head, 50, born about 1811 in Beccles, Suffolk
Martha Pullyn	wife, 50, born about 1811 in Norwich, Norfolk
Mary I Pullyn	daughter, 16, born about 1845 in Lambeth, Surrey
Fanny Pullyn	daughter, 12, born about 1849 in Lambeth, Surrey
Kathe P Pullyn	daughter, 9, born about 1852 in Lambeth, Surrey
Philip Pullyn	son, 7, born about 1854 in Lambeth, Surrey
Frances N J Pullyn	son, 3, born about 1858 in Lambeth, Surrey
1 servant	

1861 census for Lowestoft, Suffolk

Samuel Howett Jane Howett Frank W. Howett 6 other children 13 servants 10 visitors head, 49, born about 1812 in Adwick by Street, Yorkshire wife, 46, born about 1815 in Northallerton, Yorkshire son, 10, born about 1851 in Norwich, Norfolk

1871 Census

1871 census for Norwich, Norfolk

17 Chapel Lake

John Lacey	head, 85, retired builder, born Norfolk Potter Heigham
Elizabeth Lacey	wife, 77, born Norfolk Wells

1871 census for Clapham, Surrey

The Lodge, Grafton Square

William R. Lacey	head, 40, born about 1831 Norfolk, Norwich, civil engineer
Amelia E. Lacey	wife, 39, born Norfolk, Norwich
Annie A. Lacey	daughter, 19, born Norfolk, Norwich
Kate Lacey	daughter, 13, scholar, born Norfolk, Norwich
Julia Lacey	daughter, 11, born Norfolk, Norwich
Ernest Lacey	son, 4, born Clapham, Surrey

1871 census for Turnham Green, Chiswick, Middlesex

Stile Hall

ds

1871 (April 2) census for Charlton, London

William A. W. Sleigh	head, born about 1844 in Chiswick, Middlesex
Emma A. Sleigh	wife, born about 1847 in St. James, Middlesex
Emma W. Sleigh	9 months, born Turnham Green, Middlesex
2 servants	

1871 census for Islington, London

a school

Annie Sleigh Rachel Warner Sleigh] scholar, 4, born about 1867 whereabouts not stated [may be Anne

1871 census for Lambeth, London

Nicholas Pullyn	head, 60, born about 1811 in Beccles, Suffolk
Fanny Pullyn	daughter, 22, born about 1849 in Lambeth, Surrey
Katherine B Pullyn	daughter, 14, born about 1857 in Lambeth, Surrey
Philip Pullyn	son, 18, born about 1853 in Lambeth, Surrey
1 servant	

1881 Census

1881 census for William A. W. Sleigh and Emma A. Bignell Sleigh could not find, or in later years; he died 1881.

1881 census: cannot find William Campbell Sleigh.

1881 census for Norwich, Norfolk

16 Newmarket Road	
John Lacey	head, 95, widower, born Potter Heigham
1 nurse and 3 servants	

1881 census for Clapham, Surrey

46 Grafton Square, The Lodge (image on file)

William R. Lacey	head, 51, surveyor, born Norwich, Norfolk
Amelia Lacey	wife, 50, born Norwich, Norfolk
Frederick W. Lacey	son, 25, architect, born Norwich, Norfolk
Julia Lacey	daughter, 20, born Norwich, Norfolk
Ernest M. Lacey	son, 14, scholar, born Clapham, Surrey
Pitt Welton	cousin, 15, scholar, born S. America
1 servant	

1881 census for Clapham, London

19 Grafton Square

Frank W. Howett	head, 30, born about 1851 in Norwich, Norfolk; bank clerk
Annie A. Howett	wife, 27, born about 1854 in Norwich, Norfolk [Annie Amelia
Lacey]	
Elsie M. Howett	daughter, 5, born about 1876 in Balham, Surrey
1 servant	

1881 census for Chiswick, Middlesex

1 Stile Hall

R. H. Bignall	head, 70, born about 1811 in Westminster, Middlesex, wine spirit	
merchant		
Emma W. Sleigh	granddaughter, 11, born Middlesex	
2 adopted daughters named Squires (biological daughters)		
T. A. Squires	visitor, 52, born Edmonton, Middlesex (Sarah Ann)	
3 servants		

1881 census for Leatherhead, Surrey

Inkerman Terrace

William Snow	head, 45, born about 1836 in London, Middlesex
Clara Snow	wife, 28, born about 1853 in London, Middlesex
Elsie Snow	daughter, no age given, born in Leatherhead, Surrey
Annie Sleigh	niece, 16, born about 1865 in London, Middlesex [may be Anne
Rachel Warner Sleigh]	

1881 census for Reigate Foreign, Surrey

Redhill Common

Nicholas Pullyn	head, 70, born about 1811 in Bredes, Suffolk; widower, annuitant
Fanny Pullyn	daughter, 32, born about 1849 in Brixton, Surrey
Katherine Pullyn	daughter, 29, born about 1852 in Brixton, Surrey
Philip Pullyn	son, 27, born about 1854 in Brixton, Surrey; clerk
1 servant	

1881 census for Wanstead, Essex

Bedford Road, Scoland Cottage

Thomas J. Woodson head, 34, born Norwich, Norfolk, stationer [could be Woodrow, and son of Maria Lacey]

Margaret Woodson	wife, 34, born Norwich, Norfolk
Mary Ann Feltham	mother-in-law, 68, widowed, born Fressingfield, Suffolk
James W. Lacey	uncle, 69, widowed, builder, justice of peace, born Norwich
Norfolk; visitor (first s	on of John Lacey and Elizabeth Randall)
Lilly Lacey	cousin, 26, unmarried, born Norwich, Norfolk
Charles H. Andrews	cousin, 18, unmarried, born Cape Town, South Africa; student of
medicine	
1 servant	

1891 Census

1891 census for St Peter per Mountgate , Norwich, Norfolk

Castle Meadow

James Wilkin Lacey	head, 79, widower, builder merchant, born Norwich, Norfolk
Matilda Marve Lacey	daughter, 35, single, born Norwich, Norfolk

1891 census for Lympstone, Devon

Amelia Sleigh	66, wife's grandmother, born about 1825 in Buckinghamshire
Frederick G. Barton	39, head, born about 1852 in Stroud, Gloucestershire
Annie R. W. Barton	26, wife, born about 1865 in Kennington, London
Evelyn M. Barton	7, daughter, born about 1884 in Melbourne, Australia
Winifred M. Barton	6, daughter, born about 1885 in Hay NSW , Australia
Constance C. Barton	5, daughter, born about 1886 in Melbourne, Australia

1891 census for New Brentford parish, Middlesex

town of Brentford

William R. Lacey	head, 61, born about 1830 in Norwich, Norfolk	
Amelia E. Lacey	wife, 59, born about 1832 in Norwich, Norfolk	
Julia Lacey	daughter, 30. born about 1861 in Norwich, Norfolk	
Frederick C. Moore	son-in-law, 28, born about 1863 in Brixton, Surrey	
Margaret J. Moore	granddaughter, 5, born about 1886 in East Molesey, Surrey	
Gladys J. Jula	granddaughter, 8, born about 1883 in Stockwell, Surrey	
[this last person obviously has the wrong last name, likely Moore, because Gladys' middle name		
was Julia]		

1891 census for New Brentford parish, Middlesex

Somerset Lodge,	Boston Road
-----------------	-------------

Ernest M. Lacey	head, 25, electrical engineer, born Clapham, Surrey
Emma W. Lacey	wife, 20, born Chiswick, Middlesex
Robert S. Lacey	son, 1, born Brentford, Middlesex
Percy A. Hubbard (?)	visitor, 33 single, vocal comedian
2 servants	

1891 census for Holdenhurst, Hampshire

Frederick W. Lacey	head, 35, born about 1856 in Norwich, Norfolk
Louisa Lacey	wife, 33, born about 1858 in Walworth, London
Dorothy A Lacey	daughter, 6, born about 1885 in Brentford, Middlesex
Ethel Mary Lacey	daughter, 2, born about 1889 in Brentford, Middlesex
Margaret A Lacey	daughter, 9/12, born about 1890 in Bournemouth, Hampshire

1891 census for Streatham, London

Philip Pullyn head, 37, born about 1854 in Camberwell, Surrey

Kate Pullyn	wife, 32, born about 1859 in Norwich, Norfolk [Kate Lacey]
Philip L Pullyn	son, 1, born about 1890 in Streatham, Surrey

1891 census for Clapham, London, Surrey

19 Grafton Square

F W Howett	head, 40, born Norwich, Norfolk, bank clerk
A A Howett	wife, 37, born Norwich, Norfolk,
E M Howett	daughter, 15, born Wandsworth, Surrey
1 servant	-

1901 Census

1901 (March 31) census for Streatham, London

Fanny Pullyn	head, 52, born about 1849 in Brixton, London
Beatrice Harris	visitor, 26, born about 1875 in Nk, London

1901 (March 31) census for Bedford St Paul, Bedfordshire

Amelia Sleigh	78, grandmother, born about 1823 in Beresford, Buckinghamshire
Frederick G. Barton	49, head, born about 1852 in Stroud, Gloucestershire
Annie R. Barton	36, wife, born about 1865 in London [Anne Rachel Warner Sleigh]
Winifred M. Barton	16, daughter, born about 1885 in Hay, Australia
Evelyn M. Barton	16, daughter, born about 1885 in Melbourne, Australia
Constance C. Barton	15, daughter, born about 1886 in Melbourne, Australia
Mabel L Barton	8, daughter, born about 1893 in Leamington, Warwickshire
Everard A Barton	6, son, born about 1895 in Leamington, Warwickshire
and 1 servant	-

1901 (March 31) census for Brighton, Sussex

William R. Lacey	head, 73, born about 1828 in Norwich, Norfolk
Kate Pullyn	head, 42, born about 1858 in Norwich, Norfolk
Phillip Pullyn	son, 11, born about 1890 in Streatham, Surrey
1 servant	

1901 (March 31) census

St. Peter, Kent; Parke High School, St. Peters Road William S. Lacey boarder-pupil, 13, born Hampton Hill, Middlesex [who?]

1901 census for Beckenhamn, Kent

Manor Road 19

Frank H. Howett head, 50, born in Norwich, Norfolk, widower, bank inspector

1901 census for Sunninghill, Berkshire

```
Nutfield Cottage
```

Malcom C Adamson Elsie M Adamson Kathleen E Barnes 2 servants head, 27, born in Battle, Sussex, living on own means wife, 25, born in London visitor, 31, born about 1870 Chorley Wood, Hertfordshire U

1901 (March 31) census record I saved for Civil Parish of St Mary & St John Christchurch, Westminster, London has

2 Queens Ann Gate, schedule 318 -- a hotel! Francis E. Holland head, 31, housekeeper

wife, 31			
son, 2			
mother, 63			
visitor, 34, civil engineer			
visitor, 30			
2 Queens Ann Gate, schedule 319 (and office)			
head, 36, consulting engineer, employer			
wife, 30			
son, 6			
niece, 10			
visitor, 33, consulting electrical engineer, employer			
servant, 24			

1901 census for Bournemouth, Hampshire

Ernest S. Laceyhead, 8 months, born Kensington, LondonFlorence Lakemannurse, 37, born Bideford, DevonErnest is likely a son of Ernest Matthew Lacey and Emma Warner Sleigh, who were elsewhere at thistime without their children.

1901 census for Eastbourne, Sussex

St. Cyprien's School, Carlisle Road

Robert M. Lacey boarder and schoolboy, 7, born Highbury, Norfolk Likely a son of Ernest Matthew Lacey and Emma Warner Sleigh, who were elsewhere at this time without their children.

1901 Census for Action, Brentford

64 Marlborough Road	
Robert Young	head, 35, shipbroker's clerk, born Clapham
Julia Young	wife, 40, born Norwich, Norfolk (nee Julia Lacey)
Stuart Young	son, 3, born Chiswick, Middlesex
Frank Lacey	nephew, 9, born Brentford (son of Ernest Matthew Lacey and
Emma Warner Sleigh)	

1901 Census for St. Peter Intra, Kent

Redlands

Edward H. Adcock	head, 50, married, living on own means, born Horncastle, Lincoln
Amabilis M. A. Adcock	daughter, 5, born Dorking, Surrey
Edith M. Thatcher	visitor, 24, single, living on own means, born Winscombe,
Somerset	

The birth record for Amabilis cites her mother as Emma Warner (Sleigh) Lacey. (per Sandra Jeffs via email 4-19-2011)

1911 Census

In 1911 Ernest Matthew Lacey lived in Westminster, London at 5 Iddesleigh Mansion, Caxton St. by himself. He was married 22 years, 5 children born 4 living, civil engineer, born Clapham, Surrey. This location may also have been his office.

Robert Markwell Sleigh Lacey lived with uncle Robert Burns Young and his wife Julia at 18 The Crane ?? SW Julia was Robert's aunt.

Frank Philip Sleigh Lacey lived in Eccles, Manchester at "Woodlands" 161 Worsley Road, Winton.

Sons William Warner Sleigh Lacey and Ernest Vair Sleigh Lacey were in Scarborough, North Yorkshire attending St. Martin's Church of England Primary School on Royal Avenue.

Emma Lacey was living with Stamford Clirehugh in Lewes, Sussex as his wife. They claimed to have been married 9 years.

Other Records

Barton Family

The Barton Carpet Factory

John Everard Barton, previously a London based salesman, with Thomas Edward Crane took over the Wright & Crump carpet business in Kidderminster in 1850, renaming it Crane & Barton. Thomas Crane died in 1865 and the company became John E Barton & Sons. John Barton died in 1885 and the company ceased trading in 1905. The offices were located at 17-20 Vicar St, Kidderminster.

http://kidcivicsoc.org.uk/Downloads/bartonsmill hkp449.pdf

The Armorial Families: A Directory of Coat-Armour for London

Frederick George Barton, Esquire, J.P. for Colony of New South Wales. *Born* August 29, 1851, being the second son of the late John Everard Barton of Astley Hall, Stourport, and of Kidderminster, by Sarah his wife, younger daughter of Philip Merritt of Gloucester. **Armorial bearings**—He bears for **Arms**; Party per fesse argent and azure, four stags' heads caboshed two and two within a bordure charged with eight crescents, the whole counterchanged; and for his **Crest**, upon a wreath of the colours, on a mount vert, an owl argent between two acorns slipped and leaved proper; and with **Motto**, "I byde my time," *Married*, September 28, 1882, Anne Rachel Warner, daughter and heir of William Warner Sleigh, Barrister-at-law; and has had *Issue*—Everard William Campbell Barton, Gentleman, born September 30, 1887; died December 19, 1887; Evelyn Mary; Winifred Millie; and Constance Everard Campbell. *Postal address*—Astley Hall, Stourport, Worcs.

There was another entry for Everard William Barton born June 8, 1849, elder brother to Frederick George Barton. He married June 27, 1876 Agnes, younger daughter of James Evers-Swindell, Esquire, of Oldswinford Castle, in the county of Worcester, Justice of the Peace and Deputy-Lieutenant. Postal address—Warstone House, Bewdley, Worcestershire.

Visitation of England and Wales, 1893, Volume 1 edited by Joseph Jackson Howard and Frederick Arthur Crisp

This book is available on Google Books. It presents an abbreviated genealogy of the family of John Everard Barton.



Arms on record in the College of Arms .- Per fess argent and azure, four stags' heads cabossed within bordure charged with eight crescents, the whole counterchanged.

Crest .-- On a mount vert an owl argent between two acorns slipped and leaved proper. *Motte.*—I byde my time.

Barton of Kidderminster,

John Everard Barton of Ryder-Elizabeth Mee, dau. of Ro-Street, London, born 20 August, bapt. at St. James's Church, Westminster, 21 September 1794; died at Uxbridge 23 August, bur. at Kensal Green 29 August 1869.

bert Jacques of Montreal, Canada; born in New York in 1799; marr. at Marylebone Church 31 March 1819; died 21 August 1834.

of

William Henry Barton of Sydney, N.S.W., born in Ryder Street 13 July, bopt. at St. James's, Westminster, 6 August 1820; died in Sydney, New South Wales, 28 March 1888, bur. in Waverley Cemetery, Sydney. (W. H. Barton was for some time Private Secretary to J. Hume, M.P., and then clerk in Woods and Forests. He went to Australia in 1853, and marr. Mary, widow of James Horton, and left issue two sons now living in Sydney.)

John Everard=Sarah, younger Barton of Kiddau. of Phillip derminster, Merritt etc., born 4 Gloucester, March 1825, born 10 May 1825 ; marr. at St. Margaret's, bapt. at St. James's, 10 April 1825; Westminster, died at Astley 28 January Hall, co. Wor-1848 (now living at Astley cester, 25 October, bur. at Hall). Astley 28 October 1885. Will dated 14 March 1878; proved 1 February 1886.

Everard William=Agnes, younger dau. of James Evers-Swindell of Barton of Kidderminster and Oldswinford Castle, co. Worcester, J.P. and D.L.; born 22 Septem-Warstone House, Bewdley, co. Worcester, J.P.; ber 1848, bapt. at Cradley Church 10 May 1856; marr. 27 June born 8 June 1849. * 1876 at St. Leonard's,

Frederick George Anne Rachel Warner, dau. Barton. (late of and heir of William Warner Moollong, New South Wales, Sleigh, Barrister - at - Law, and grand-dau. of William J.P.), now living Campbell Sleigh, Serjeantat Learnington, at-Law; born 24 October Warwick ; 1864; marr. at Christ Church, Melbourne, 28 co, born 29 August 1851. September 1882.

Evelyn Mary, born in Winifred Millie, born Melbourne, Victoria, in Hay, N.S.W., 14 5 October 1883, bapt. October 1884, bapt. at at St. John's, near St. John's. Melbourne.

Clent.

Constance Everard Campbell, born 17 June 1886, bapt. at St. Andrew's, Melbourne.

Everard William Campbell Barton, born 30 September 1887, bapt. at St. John's; died 19 December 1887, bur. at St. John's.

Elizabeth, born 11 March 1830, bapt. at St. James's, West-Phœbe, born 1 August 1832, bapt. at St. James's, Westminster. minster; died 11 December, bur. at Kensal Green Cemetery 17 December 1884.

B Charles Tom= Barton of Kiddermin- ster and The Hill, Wolver- ley, co. Wor- cester; born 6 March 1853.		Katherine Mary, born 19 July 1854. Helen Elizabeth, born 19 May 1858.	Henry Alex- ander Bar- ton, born 24 September 1862; M.A. Trinity Coll., Oxon; De- puty Attor- ney General for British Columbia.	Lillian Sara,= born 12 No- vember 1864 ; marr. at Astley Church 17 August 1886.	= Thomas Needham Wilson of Oak Lodge, Bitterne, etc., born 3 Au- gust 1863, bapt. at St. Mary's Ex- tra, Southampton; M.A. Trinity Coll, Oxon; Barrister- at-Law, Inner Temple.
Frederick John Barton, born 1 ber, bapt. at St Kidderminster ber 1876; die ber, bur. there ber 1877.	9 Novem- 9 C George's, 1878, b 2 Decem- St. Ge d 22 Octo- Kidder	lctober ton, apt. at temi orge's, at min- Kido 7 Janu- Janu	rles Percy Bar- born 20 Sep- ber 1880, bapt. St. George's, lerminster, 3 hary 1881.	Hilda, born 6 August, bapt. at Hartlebury 5 October 1883.	John Everard Bar- ton, born 30 Janu- ary, bapt. at Hartlebury parish church 22 March 1889.
			hor	and th	Juntin
					~

91

Visitation of England and Wales Notes, 1897 By Joseph J. Howard This book is available at Google Books.



Book-plate of Everard Barton of Kidderminster, and Warstone House, near Bewdley; born 8 June 1849. A Genealogical And Heraldic History Of The Colonial Gentry ... by Sir Bernard Burke This book is available at Google Books.

Barton.

FREDERICK GEORGE BARTON, late of Kajuligah, Ivanhoe, and Moulbong, Booligal, New South Wales, a justice of the peace for that colony, b. 29th August, 1851, m. 28th September, 1882, Annie Rachel Warner SLEIGH, grand-daughter of the late Mr. Serjeaut SLEIGH, and has issue,

- 1. EVERARD ARTHUR HALE, b. in England, 1st June, 1894.
- 1. Evelyn Mary, b. in Australia, 5th October, 1883.
- II. Winniefred Millie, b. in Australia, 14th October, 1884.
- 111. Constance Everard Campbell, b. in Australia, 17th January, 1886.
- IV. Mabel Lilian, b. in England, 23rd July, 1892.

2 н 2

BURKE'S COLONIAL GENTRY.

Lincage.

This family claims descent from JOHN BARTON of Holme, near Newark, co. Nottingham, who was a merchant of the Staple, and the original probate of his will disted 1490, is in their possession. His son, RALPH BARTON, married Joan, daughter and sole heiress of Sir Ralph Radeliffe of Smithills, and was ancestor of the BARTONS of Smithills.

468

JOHN EVEBABD BARTON, b. 23rd August, 1794, m. in 1819, Elizabeth Mee, daughter of Robert JACQUES of Montreal, and d. 23rd August, 1869, having by her, who was b. in 1799, and d. 21st August, 1834, had issue, a son,

JOHN EVERARD BARTON, of Astley Hall, Stourport, co. Worcester, b. 4th March, 1825, m. 28th January, 1848, Sarah MERRITT, and d. 25th October, 1885, having by her who was b. 10th May, 1825, had issue,

- Everard William, J.P., b. 8th June, 1849, is married.
- 11. FREDERICK GEORGE, the subject of this memoir.
- 111. Charles Tom, b. 6th March, 1853, is married and has two sons and two daughters.
- Harry Alexander, late Deputy Attorney-General in British Columbia.
- 1. Katherine Mary.
- 11. Helen Elizabeth.
- III. Lillian Sarah, m. Thomas Needham WILSON, M.A., barrister-at-law, and has issue, one daughter.

Arms-Per fess argent and azure four stags' heads caboshed, two and two, within a bordure thereon eight crescents, all counterchanged.

- Crest-On a mount between two acorns stalked and leaved an owl, all proper. Motto-I byde my time.
- Estates-Kajuligah, Ivanhoe, and Moolbong, Booligal, New South Wales.

Residence-Astley Hall, Stourport, Worcestershire, England.

Clubs-Australian, Melbourne, and Royal Colonial Institute, London.

Visitation of England and Wales (Volume 6) edited by Joseph Jackson Howard and Frederick Arthur Crisp

Thomas Needham Wilson of Oak Lodge,= Bitterne, co. Hants ; born at Bitterne 3 August, bapt. at St. Mary Extra, Southampton, 4 December 1863 ; of Trinity College, Oxford, matriculated 2 i January 1882, B.A. 1885, M.A. 1888, Barrister- at-lj.w of the Inner Temple 4 May 1887.

=Lillian Sarah, youngest dau. of John Everard Barton of Astley Hall, co. Worcester, by Sarah his wife, younger dau. of Phillip Merritt of Gloucester ; born at Habberley, in the parish of Kidderminster, co. Worcester, 12 November 1864, bapt. at St. Mark's, Stamber Mill, co. Worcester, 23 March 1883; marr. at Astley 17 August 1886.

(See Barton Pedigree, Vol. i, page gi.)

Katherinc Furnival, born in London 30 December 1893, bapt. at Astley 20 February 1894.

Thomas Needham Furnival Wilson, born in London 20 March, bapt. at All Souls', Langham Place, London, 30 April 1896.

Patents

In the following extract, John Everard Barton is granted a patent for an improvement in carpet manufacture in 1857.

THE LONDON GAZETTE, AUGUST 7, 1857.

That the salary of such Vestry Clerk shall be payable up to the day on which he ceases to hold such office, and no longer, and shall bepaid by quarterly payments at the several quarters ending at the usual Feast days in the year, namely, Michaelmas Day, Christmas Day, Lady Day, and Midsummer Day, with a proportionate sum to be paid to his executors or administrators, in case he shall die while holding such office; but it shall be competent for the Churchwardens and Overseers to defer, in whole or in part, the payment of the salary of such Vestry Clerk until his accounts shall have been audited and allowance the sum due up to the date of his accounts so audited shall forthwith be paid.

And we do hereby order and direct, that a copy of this Order shall be published in the London Gazette.

Given under our hand and seal of office, this twenty-third day of July, in the year one thousand eight hundred and fiftyseven.

E. P. Bouverie, President.

R. W. Grey, Secretary.

THE AVERAGE PRICE OF BROWN OR MUSCOVADO SUGAR,

The Produce of the British Possessions in AMERICA, Computed from the RETURNS made in the Week ending the 4th day of August, 1857,

Is Forty-one Shillings and Six Pence per Hundred Weight;

Exclusive of the Duties of Customs paid or payable thereon on the IMPORTATION thereof into GREAT BRITAIN.

THE AVERAGE PRICE OF BROWN OR MUSCOVADO SUGAR,

The Produce of the MAURITIUS, Computed as above' and Exclusive of Duty,

Is Thirty-four Shillings and Four Pence Halfpenny per Hundred Weight.

No Return has been made of the Sale of BROWN or MUSCOVADO SUGAR, the Produce of the EAST INDIES, in the Week ending as above.

The AVERAGE PRICE of the two foregoing Descriptions of SUGAR, jointly, Computed as above, and Exclusive of Duty,

Is Forty-one Shillings and Three Pence Three Farthings per Hundred Weight.

By Authority of Parliament, HENRY BICKNELL, Clerk of the Grocers' Company. Grocers'-Hall, August 7, 1857.

Patent Law Amendment Act, 1852.

Office of the Commissioners of Patents for Inventions.

NOTICE is hereby given, that provisional protection has been allowed

1442. To Bernhard Samuelson, of Braffords House, near Brough, in the county of York, Ironmaster, for the invention of "improvements

in safety apparatus for giving artificial light." On his petition, recorded in the Office of the Commissioners on the 22nd day of May, 1857.

- 1642. To Joseph Michell Paule, of Alston, Cum-
- berland, Gentleman, for the invention of "improved means for ventilating coal and other mines."
- On his petition, recorded in the Office of the Commissioners on the 11th day of June, 1857.
- 1682. To John Fowler, junior, of Cornhill, in the city of London, Engineer, and William Worby, of Ipswich, in the county of Suffolk, Engineer, for the invention of "improvements in ploughing or tilling land."

On their petition, recorded in the Office of the Commissioners, on the 16th day of June, 1857.

- 1694. To James Heywood Whitehead, of Southside, in the parish of Saddleworth, in the county of York, Esquire, for the invention of "improvements in pressing cloth."
- On his petition, recorded in the Office of the Commissioners on the 17th day of June, 1857.
- 1706. To John Everard Barton, of Kidderminster, in the county of Worcester, Carpet Manufacturer, for the invention of "an improvement in winding worsted on to creel bobbins of carpet looms."

On his petition, recorded in the Office of the Commissioners on the 18th day of June, 1857.

- 1728. To Benjamin Richardson, of Wordsley Flint Glass Works, near Stourbridge, for the invention of "improvements in manufacturing and ornamenting articles of flint glass."
- On his petition, recorded in the Office of the Commissioners, on the 20th day of June, 1857.
- 1744. To Christopher Dicran Seropyan, of New Haven, in the State of Connecticut, one of the United States of America, for the invention of "a mode of preparing bank notes, bills of exchange, and other papers, to prevent counterfeiting by photography and its kindred processes."

On his petition, recorded in the Office of the Commissioners on the 22nd day of June, 1857.

- 1764. To George Ireland, of Birmingham, in the county of Warwick, for the invention of "improvements in raising weights, applicable to stamping or cutting metals and other similar purposes."
- On his petition, recorded in the Office of the Commissioners on the 24th day of June, 1857.
- 1836. To George Murray, of Glasgow, in the county of Lanark, North Britain, Artist, for the invention of "improvements in machinery or apparatus for propelling ships and vessels."
- On his petition, recorded in the Office of the Commissioners, on the 1st day of July, 1857.
- 1932. To William John Thomas Smith, of Birmingham, in the county of Warwick, Manufacturer, and Frederick Talbot, of Birmingham aforesaid, Factor, for the invention of "an improvement or improvements in hair pins."

Travels to NYC

On 12-8-1876 William Campbell Sleigh, age 58 (born about 1819) arrived in NYC on the ship *Algeria* from Liverpool, England. He apparently traveled alone.

Vair C. Lacey arrived port NYC on 2-28-1956 on *Ascania* tourist class from Southampton, England. address: Avro Canada Ltd., Malton (?), Ontario. travel document: V.1591146 British.

Ancestry World Tree

Frances Nicholas James Pullyn:

Born 24 MAY 1857 in Lambeth, Surrey,

Father Nicholas Pullyn born 11-16-1810 in Beccles, Suffolk;

mother was Jane Pullyn born 11-19-1787 in Beccles, Suffolk

married Martha Oxley (born 1-1-1811 in Norwich, Norfolk) 11-9-1842 in Kennington,

Lambeth London, Surrey. died 12-24-1887 Surrey.

Married Miriam Gertrude Hannington (born between 1843 and 1871!)

Died 12 AUG 1920 in Manawatu Heads, New Zealand. He was buried 14 AUG 1920. Children:

1. Francis Winser Pullyn born 1892, died in Australia. He married Living Hardie.

2. Edward Oxley Pullyn born 8-12-1893 in Sydney, Australia.

He married Laura Mahala Ross 7 APR 1920 in St Andrews Presbyterian Church, Palmerston North, Manawatu, New Zealand. She was born 13 NOV 1892 in Maungatua, West Taieri, Otago, New Zealand.

Children of Martha Oxley and Nicholas Pullyn:

- i. Mary Jane Pullyn was born between 1842 and 1845.
- ii. Fanny Pullyn was born between 1842 and 1848.
- iii. Katharine Philippa Pullyn was born between 1842 and 1851. z
- iv. Philip Pullyn was born between 1842 and 1853.

Jane Pullyn was born 19 NOV 1787 in Beccles, Suffolk, England. She was the daughter of Philip Pullyn (born between 1705 and 1767) and Katherine Sparshall. Katherine Sparshall was born abt. 1750 in Wells-next-the-Sea, Norfolk. She was the daughter of Joseph Sparshall (born abt. 1723 and died abt. 1810 in Beccles, Suffolk, son of John Sparshall and Mary Southgate) and Katherine Peckover (born abt. 1724, and died abt. 1802).

Children of Katherine Sparshall and Philip Pullyn:

- i. Katharine Pullyn was born 7 JUL 1785 in Beccles, Suffolk, England, and died 30 JAN 1875 in Yarmouth Northern, Great Yarmouth, Norfolk, England.
- ii. Jane Pullyn was born 19 NOV 1787 in Beccles, Suffolk, England.
- iii. Philip Pullyn was born 26 JUN 1789 in Beccles, Suffolk, England, and died 5 JUL 1790 in Beccles, Suffolk, England.
- iv. Philip Pullyn was born 30 AUG 1791 in Beccles, Suffolk, England, and died 26 MAY 1879 in Yarmouth Northern, Great Yarmouth, Norfolk, England. He became Lord Mayor of Great Yarmouth in 1847/48. He was a Quaker.
- v. Hannah Maria Pullyn was born 29 MAY 1793 in Beccles, Suffolk, England, and died abt. 1856. She married Daniel Boulter 31 DEC 1822 in Great Yarmouth, Norfolk, son of Joseph Boulter and Mary Clarke. He was born abt. 1793, and died abt. 1875.

Children of Katherine Peckover and Joseph Sparshall:

- i. Joseph Sparshall was born abt. 1755, and died abt. 1765 in Great Yarmouth, Norfolk.
- ii. Edmund Sparshall was born abt. 1758 in Great Yarmouth, Norfolk. He married Judith. She was born abt. 1762, and died abt. 1836.
- iii. Hannah Maria Sparshall was born abt. 1752 in Wells-next-the-Sea, Norfolk.
- iv. Mary Sparshall was born abt. 1762 in Great Yarmouth, Norfolk.
- v. Katherine Sparshall was born abt. 1750 in Wells-next-the-Sea, Norfolk. She married Philip Pullyn 11 FEB 1783 in Yarmouth, Norfolk, England. He was born between 1705 and 1767

Apparently Philip Pullyn, husband of Katherine Sparshall remarried to a Martha UNKNOWN and had more children: (source is Lorna P Cowan)

- vi. Mary Pullyn, died in her twenties.
- vii. Richard Pullyn, twin to Philip, died soon after birth.
- vii. Philip Pullyn, twin to Richard.

Philip Lacey Pullyn: Died in 1930 of duodenal ulcer

Son Philip Pullyn died 2001 of struck down by a car as pedestrian (entered street without looking).

William Randell LACEY

b: 7 SEP 1826 in Norwich, Norfolk.

Christening: 29 OCT 1826 Saint Peter Parmentergate, Norwich, Norfolk;

Death: JUN 1904 in London, England.

Occupation: Master Carpenter employing 3 men & 1 apprentice 1851 36, Surrey St., Norwich St. Stephens, Norfolk;

In 1871 he was a civil engineer but by 1881 he was described as a surveyor.

In 1871 & 1881 he lived at The Lodge, 17, Grafton Sq, Clapham, Surrey.

In 1891 he lived with his daughter, Julia, her husband and two daughters at Brent Cottage, New Brentford.

1901 he was living with Kate in Rock Gardens, Brighton, Sussex.

Mother: Elizabeth UNKNOWN b: ABT 1794 in Wells, Norfolk

Married Amelia Elizabeth CLARKE b: 4 MAY 1831 in Norwich, Norfolk Children:

- Thomas William LACEY b: 1850 in Norwich, Norfolk. Died 1905 in Chiswick, Surrey. Occupation: Stockbrokers Clerk 1901. Married Elizabeth Croton Robinson (b: 7 APR 1858 d: 1909). Children: (1) Dorothy A. LACEY b: 11 FEB 1887 married Gerald Kessick BOWES b: DEC 1890, had child Julian BOWES b: 29 MAR 1922 d: JAN 2001.
 (2) Ruth Campbell LACEY b: 26 NOV 1890 d: 24 MAR 1979 married Arthur Falconer HAYDEN b: 24 AUG 1877 d: 8 MAR 1940, have living descendants
 (3) Thomas F.V. LACEY b: 1896 d: 1904.
- 2. Annie Amelia LACEY b: 1852 in Norwich, Norfolk
- Frederic W LACEY b: 1856 in Norwich, Norfolk. In 1871 he was a boarder at St Johns College, Hurstpierpoint, Sussex. In 1881 he was working as an architect but by 1901 he was a Surveyor. Married Louisa BROWN b: 1858 in Walworth, Surrey. Children:

(1) Dorothy A LACEY b: 1885 in Brentford, Middlesex

(2) Ethel Mary LACEY b: 1889 in Brentford, Middlesex

(3) Margaret A LACEY b: JUL 1890 in Bournemouth, Hants

4. Kate LACEY b: 1858 in Norwich, Norfolk Marriage #1 4th quarter 1877 to John Charles (Jan Carel) Juta in London City, London, Middlesex. Also May 1878 in Cape Of Good Hope, South Africa. John born 6 NOV 1855 in Cape Of Good Hope, S. Africa; d: 8 AUG 1883 in 6, Stockwell Rd, Clapham of Diptheria (BMD death record says 1886). His parents were Johan Carel Juta and Louise Marx b: 1821 in Treves (sister to Karl Marx). Johan died 7 Apr 1886 in Sutton Court Rd, Chiswick. He had siblings: Henricus Hubertus Juta b: 1857 in Cape Of Good Hope, S.Africa; Louise Amelia Juta b: 22 Jan 1859 in Burgerlijke Stand, Zaltbommel, Gelderland, Netherlands; Wilhelmina Gertruida Albertina Helena Juta.

(1) Gladys Angele I. P. JUTA b: 22 MAR 1883 at 6, Stockwell Rd, Clapham. Married Cyril Paul BATHURST b: MAR 1870 in Kensington, London Gladys married 30 Apr 1908 in Holy Trinity, Upper Tooting, London to Cyril Paul Bathurst b: Mar 1870 in Kensington, London, youngest son of the late Henry Bathurst.

(2) Henry James JUTA b: SEP 1879 d: 1898 in Brentford, Middlesex.

Marriage #2 on SEP 1886 in All Souls, Cavendish Square, Christchurch, North Marylebone, London to Philip PULLYN Birth: 27 JUN 1853 in Lambeth, Camberwell, Surrey; Christening: 16 OCT 1853 St. Mark, Kennington, Lambeth, London; Death: 1897; Occupation: insurance clerk 1871 136, Stockwell Park Road, Lambeth.

Children:

(3) Philip Lacey PULLYN Birth: DEC 1889 in Streatham, Surrey. Married in 1919 to Annie Rae HUTCHISON. Had child Phil PULLYN b: 1923 in New Zealand, Death: 2001 in New Zealand.

- 5. Julia LACEY b: 1861 in Norwich, Norfolk. Marriage Frederick C MOORE b: 1863 in Surrey, London. Children:
 - (1) Gladys Julia MOORE b: 1883 in Surrey, London
 - (2) Marjorie J MOORE b: 1886 in Surrey, London
- 6. Ernest M. LACEY b: 1867 in Surrey, London

Juta & Co, Ltd is South Africa's leading provider of academic and professional information. The company is named after its founder, Jan Carel Juta. He and his wife Louise, the sister of Karl Marx, left Holland to settle in South Africa in 1853. It was here, in Cape Town, that he opened Juta bookseller and publisher. The company prospered for the next 30 years and in 1878, the name changed to Juta & Company. In 1883 Jan Juta's younger [?] son died unexpectedly, which had a profound effect on the old man. His health declined and the following year he left for rest and treatment in England, where he died two years later.

1897 The Bristol Times and Mirror

Birth Records

Thomas William Lacey

Born 10-9-1850 on Surrey Street, St. Stephen, Norwich, Norfolk. Parents: William Randall Lacey, Amelia (Clarke) Lacey. Father carpenter.

Marriage Records

Thomas William Lacey and Elizabeth Robinson

March 29, 1886 St. Michaels, Middlesex Groom's father: William Randell Lacey, surveyor. Bride's father: William Robinson, clerk. Groom was 34-year old accountant. Bride was age 27. Witnesses: Sidney Alfred Robinson, Kate Juta. copy of certificate provided to me by Lorna Cowan July 2006.

William Randall Lacey and Amelia Clarke

December 27, 1849 St. Peter's, Canongate, Norwich, Norfolk Grooms father: John Lacey, plasterer. Bride's father: Frederic Edward Clarke, tunist (piano tuner). Both bride and groom were "full age." Witnesses: Frederic Edward Clarke, Sarah Ann White, Henry Lacey. Married in the parish church by Samuel Titlow, Rector.

Emma Warner Lacey and Ernest Matthew Lacey

On the 1st Aug. at Christ Church, Streatham by the Rev.F. W. Wood, Ernest Lacey of Brentford to Emma, daughter of the late W. A. Warner Sleigh, Esq., Barrister.

Divorce Records

The Divorce of Emma Warner Lacey and Ernest Matthew Lacey

On 8-18-1893 Emma filed for divorce from Ernest claiming he had sex with other women, including prostitutes, and gave her gonorrhea. Her lawyer was E. H. Adcock. In her petition Emma stated:

- She married Ernest on 8-1-1888 at Christ Church Streatham, Surrey.
- The newly married couple lived on Glenthorne Road, Brentford, Middlesex, later at Somerset House, Brentford, and currently at 28 Linden Gardens, Bayswater, Middlesex.
- The couple had three children: Robert Markwell Sleigh Lacey age 4, Frank Philip Sleigh Lacey age 2. Ernest Frank Sleigh Lacey was born 7-14-1890 and died 8-1890.
- Ernest's adultery began 10-1-1892 and continued until two days before the divorce petition was filed. She named 4 prostitutes and gave their addresses. She gave the address of a 5th prostitute whose name she did not know.
- Emma claimed Ernest contracted venereal disease, later identified as gonorrhea, from a woman unknown to her in July 1893 and "willfully and recklessly communicated that VD to her "and was thereby guilty of cruelty to her."

Emma asked for a divorce, custody of her children, that Ernest pay the costs of the divorce and anything else "our Lordship may seem meet."

Thus began a protracted series of hearings and affidavits. Emma affirmed she knew no details of Ernest's adultery. She claimed "there is not any collusion or connivance between me and my husband Ernest Matthew Lacey in any way whatever." Ernest gave her VD "she believe it was on the 20th July 1893.... She found herself suffering from illness on or about the 8th August 1893."

Ernest's lawyers were Lake Beaumont and Lake. On 12-19-1893 Ernest confirmed there was no collusion or connivance between him and Emma. He denied the adultery charges and that he had acquired VD or communicated it to Emma. His Answer: "3. That the Petitioner condoned the adultery (if any) of the Respondent by cohabitation with him on August 4th, 1893. 4. That the Petitioner connived at the adultery (if any) of the Respondent in that she instigated the Respondent

in the month of June 1893 to invite her Solicitor Edward Harry Adcock to dine with him at his Club, that after such dinner at her instigation the said Edward Harry Adcock invited the Respondent to accompany him to the Empire Music Hall and . . . when there introduced him to a prostitute with a view to his committing adultery with her."

On 1-31-1894 Emma denied Ernest's claims. On 3-3-1894 Emma itemized the dates and places she had "marital intercourse" with Ernest in summer 1893. During this time Emma had custody of her two sons and Ernest's access to them was limited to 1–3 hours every fortnight. Hearings and affidavits continued throughout 1894.

On 4-30-1895 the petition was dismissed, Emma to pay Ernest's legal costs.

Ernest countered on 4-28-1894 with claims of his own: that Emma had committed adultery with Frank William Howett¹ in Fall 1892 and Spring 1893, that she had committed adultery with Edward Harry Adcock, that she had contracted gonorrhea from Mr. Adcock. Ernest claimed damages from Edward Adcock in the amount of £5000. In this suit Emma had as solicitor Atkinson and Dresser. Emma denied the claims and reiterated her claims against Ernest. Edward Adcock denied the claims as did Frank Howett. Ernest denied Emma's claims. This petition was dismissed on 4-30-1895 "each party to pay their own costs."

The court records were closed until 1996 (100 years).

Regarding the possibility of gonorrhea, Emma had four children some time later (1894, 1896, 1900, and 1902), Ernest and Emma each lived many more years, Ernest dying in 1945. There was no affidavit by a doctor confirming the disease. All of which evidence suggests there was no gonorrhea.

All in all this petition appears to be the result of anger, spite, and a desire for retribution. Several things point to Emma's having money of her own, which suggests she could have separated from Ernest with no legally-mandated financial support. She wanted custody of the children, which she might not have been allowed if she had just set up her own household.

This opinion changed when I learned of the following story.

The Divorce of Sarah and Edward Harry Adcock

On June 30, 1890 Edward Harry Adcock married Sarah Bridges in the British Embassy in Paris. On February 8, 1894 Sarah filed a divorce petition, as "the lawful wife of Edward Harry Adcock, solicitor, of Danehurst Epson and 30 Finsbury Circus, London." She stated that between late April and late June 1893, Edward Adcock and Emma Warner Lacey committed adultery at Danehurst Epsom² (Edward's house), and that they cohabited there from June 30, 1893 through August 24, 1894. Edward and Emma also committed adultery at Emma's house "Campville" during this same April–June 1893 time frame. It also states Edward had committed adultery "on or about July 18, 1893 with some woman unknown and thereby contracted gonorrhea."

Emma and Edward had two children! Edward Arbuthnot Adcock was born 10-22-1894 in Ribblesdale, he was baptized as Edward Arbuthnot Lacey on 5-13-1899. Amabilis May Arbuthnot Adcock was born May 15, 1896 in Ribblesdale, Dorking, Surrey; she was baptized 8-19-1904 in

¹ Frank William Howett was the husband of Annie Amelia Lacey, sister of Ernest Matthew Lacey.

² There is currently a Danehurst Court in Epsom, Surrey.

Broadstairs, Kent (a month before her father died in the same place). Her birth certificate named her mother as Emma Warner Lacey formerly Sleigh. Her birth was registered twice, as Adcock and Lacey.

Apparently Emma knew Edward before she filed a divorce petition against her husband. It is odd that Edward's divorce, or its claims, was not mentioned in Ernest's petition. Nor that neither child was mentioned during the divorce cases.

Death Records

Mary Ann Clarke

Died July 15, 1889 age 80 at 18 Rectory Grove, Clapham of apoplexy 10 days and congestion of lung 5 days. Widow of Frederick Edward Clarke. Her death was witnessed by Mary Ann Edwards.

Ernest Matthew Lacey

M.I.C.E., M.E.E.E, aged 79 years. On April 16, 1945 suddenly. Funeral at Golders Green Crematorium on Tues., Aug. 21, at 11:30 a.m.

A Legal Notice of his death soliciting claims against his estate. He lived at 79 Gloucester Road, Kensington, London and 7/8 Gosfield Street, London. Will was proved by Herbert Francis Kellie Ireland and George Rougemont Chapman, executors.

Lieut. Frank Philip Sleigh Lacey, A.S.C.

A newspaper clipping. Died March 29 in hospital abroad of pneumonia. Younger son of Ernest Matthew Lacey of Victoria Street, Westminster.

Thomas Francis Verulam Lacey

2-16-1905, 9 year old son of Thomas William Lacey. Died of diabetes mellitus. In Prittlewell, Rochford, Essex.

Ernest Vair Sleigh Lacey

Died 11-24-1931 in a plane crash, a Flight Lieutenant, RAF. Buried St. Luke Churchyard, Whyteleaf, Surrey. The churchyard contains 38 Second World War burials, most of them in the plot, but there are a few privately owned war graves elsewhere in the churchyard, together with five war burials from the First World War.

Robert Markwell Sleigh Lacey Died 9-9-1952. Beneficiary Vair Carr Lacey, design draughtsman, £2294.

Kate (Lacey) Pullyn

Email from Lorna Cowan 2-22-2017 Died 7-23-1944 age 86 (per will), Buried Kawakawa Cemetery, Russell, Nw Zealand

Phone Books

1901 phone book Mrs. E. W. Lacey Flat 1, Cumberland ho, High st.

Kensington 121

1902 phone book Mrs. E. W. Lacey

16 Kensington Ct.	Kensington 121
1903 Phone Book Lacey, Clirehugh & Sillar 2 Qn Annes gate	Westminster 678
1910 Phone Book	

Lacey, Sillar and Leigh, Consulting Engineers 5 Iddesleigh mans, Caxton st. Victoria 76

Directories

[these were provided by Lorna Cowan]

1839 Robson's Commercial Directory of Beds, Bucks... Lacey Jno Excise office ct, Pottergate street, plasterer and builder. Also mentioned a Robert Lacey of Timber Hill, printer.

1839 Pigot's Directory of Norfolk Lacey John bricklayer of Pottergate street, Norwich.

1850 Hunt & Co's Directory of E. Norfolk & parts of Suffolk

Lacey John plasterer and bricklayer of St. Andrews Street, Norwich. Lacey William carpenter and joiner of Surrey street, Norwich. Lacey James W Surrey Road in Surrey street, Norwich, plasterer and builder. Lacey John G plasterer and bricklayer of Ber street gates, Norwich. Lacey, George P. carpenter & joiner, Surrey grove, Norwich. Lacey, William R. carpenter & joiner, Surrey street, Norwich. Lacey, William B. carpenter & plasterer, St. Gregory's alley, Norwich.

1852 Gardner's Oxfordshire Directory, Entry for Banbury

William M. Warner, Esq. Calthorpe Villa [I do not know if this man was the gt-gt-grandfather of Emma Warner Sleigh, but . . .]

1854 History, Gazetteer & Directory of Norfolk

Lacey, George P. builder, Surrey street, Norwich. Lacey W R builder Broad street, b Theatre street, Norwich. Amelia Lacey mistress British School, Heigham street, Norwich. Lacey, James Wilkins bricklayer Surrey street, Norwich. Lacey John G bricklayer Ber st gates, Norwich. Lacey, Horace plasterer. St. Stephen's Square, Norwich. Lacey John bricklayer. Broad Street, Norwich. Lacey, William bricklayer, St. Gregory's alley, Norwich.

Ownership of Land 1873, Buckinghamshire

http://www.burrell-wood.org.uk/LHist/Places/Bucks/bucks1873.htm

William M. Warner, residence 84, Palace Gardens, S.W. 214 acres [I do not know if this man was the gt-gt-grandfather of Emma Warner Sleigh, but . . .]

Electoral Register, 1918

Robert Markwell Sleigh Lacey at 82 Abbeville Road, S.W.4, Clapham with Sybil Blanche Lacey

Electoral Register, 1921

Robert Markwell Sleigh Lacey at 82 Abbeville Road, S.W.4, Clapham with Sybil Blanche Lacey

Electoral Register, 1922

Robert Markwell Sleigh Lacey at 82 Abbeville Road, S.W.4, Clapham with Sybil Blanche Lacey

Newspapers

October 18, 1897 (Monday) The New Bristol Times and Mirror

announcing the approaching marriage of Mr. Malcolm Rushton Adamson and Miss Elsie Howett, at Egham, Surrey on Wednesday (10-20-1897).

September 15, 1915 London Gazette

"Corporal Frank Lacey, from a Provisional Battalion, to be Second Lieutenant. Dated 16th Septmeber, 1915."

June 16, 1919 London Gazette

Midd'x R.

"Temp. Lt. W. Lacey relinquishes his commission on account of ill-health contracted on active service, 17 June 1919, and retains the rank of Lt."

January 1, 1930 London Gazette

Ernest Vair Sleigh Lacey

Flying officer to be Flight Lieutenant

??

"The Registrations, St. Pancras"

An account of an effort to resolve a lot of legal claims."

Mr. seager said that with regard to the summonses he would not proceed any further with them, with the exception of four cases in which he would ask the acute penalty should be inflicted as they were bad, and an example must be set fore the future. The cases were those of Ernest William Lacey, who signed a claim for premises he had never occupied." No further mention of Mr. Lacey.

School Records

http://www.familyrelatives.com/search/data_school_indexes.php?page=3622&fn=&ln= LACEY Frank Philip Sleigh Dulwich College LACEY Robert Markwell Sleigh Dulwich College

Dulwich College is located in Dulwich Common, London. It is a boarding and day school for boys, ages 6–16, founded 1619

Information from Lorna Cowan

Lorna is a descendant of Thomas William Lacey (1850–1905) who married Elizabeth Croton Robinson (1858–1909).

Elizabeth Croton Robinson

Father: William Samuel Robinson, b. 1833 in Thurston, Suffolk; christening: 20 Mar 1833 Thurston, Suffolk.

Mother: Mary Anne Croton, b. 1835 in Waterloo Rd., St John's, Waterden, Surrey; christening 15 Mar 1835 in St. John The Evangelist, Lambeth, Surrey; married: 19 May 1853 in St. Peter's Church, Walworth, St. Mary, Newington, Surrey

Marriage: May 19 1853 William Samuel Robinson aged 21 to Mary Anne Croton, 18. He was a solicitors clerk of 21 Cancel Street, father William, a gentleman. She lived at the same address, father Thomas, deceased, a mercantile clerk. They both signed their names, witnessed by William Robinson and Harriett Jemima Croton and were married after banns by Francis F Statham, chaplain of St. Mary and Incumbent of St. Peter's, Walworth.

Elizabeth and siblings:

- William Henry Arthur Robinson b: 5 Apr 1854 in Stepney, Wapping; c: 4 Jun 1854 in St. Dunstan, Stepney, London
- Mary Anne Robinson b: 24 Apr 1856 in St. Sepulchre, London; c: 1 Mar 1857 in St. Giles, Cripplegate, London
- Elizabeth Croton Robinson b: 7 Apr 1858 in Charterhouse, Middlesex; c: 6 Apr 1860 in St. Giles, Cripplegate, London
- Sidney Alfred Robinson b: 26 Feb 1860 in St. Sepulchre, London; c: 6 Apr 1860 in St. Giles, Cripplegate, London

On March 29, 1886 Elizabeth Croton Robinson married Thomas William Lacey in St. Michaels, Middlesex. This couple had three children, see the Lacey part for details.

In 1910 mother Mary Anne (Croton) Robinson visited her daughter Mary Anne (Robinson) Adams in Missouri, having immigrated in 1893, a widow. Two of her four children had died, these would have been Elizabeth Croton Lacey, who died in 1909 of appendicitis, and William Henry Arthur Robinson.

William Samuel Robinson

Father: William Robinson b: 1812 in Stowupland, Suffolk Mother: Elizabeth Bacon b: 21 Sep 1810 in Tostock, Suffolk c: 21 Sep 1810 in Tostock, Suffolk

Mary Anne Robinson

[some research by Susan Dorey]

Mary Anne was the second child of William Samuel Robinson and Mary Anne Croton, she was born 24 Apr 1856 in St. Sepulchre, London. On Apr. 24, 1876 she married Alexander Leigh Adams in St. Marleybone Church, Westminster, London; Connie Mary Riddelsdell, a cousin of the bride, witnessed. They had eight children including:

- Leigh Robinson Adams, b. Feb. 1877 England
- Mary Anne Adams, b. Jan. 1880 England
- Sidney John Adams, b. Sept. 30, 1883 in Illinois; d. 2-1963 Missouri
- Beatrice Ann Adams, b. Dec. 8, 1885 in Chicago, Illinois
- Isabel Adams, b. Feb. 12, 1888 in Chicago, IL at 1186 West Jackson St.
- Harold Croton Adams, b. May 1, 1894 in St. Louis, Missouri

Alexander Leigh Adams was a broker and commission agent at the time of his marriage. He was born in Ireland, his father John Adams was a farmer. Alexander was a bookkeeper in Chicago in 1888 when daughter Isabel was born. He died May 8, 1908 in Lakeside Hospital, Chicago, IL after 26 days there. He died of chronic nephritis with cardiac complications, age 60. He had lived in Chicago 10

years in the Iroquois at Michigan Avenue and 31st Street, he was an accountant. He was buried in St. Louis, MO on May 4, 1908 at 10:30am.

In 1900 Mary Adams (40) lived in St. Louis, MO at 3528 Pine with son Dee R. (23), Mary A. (20), Sidney J. (16), Beatrice (15), Harold (6), and 3 boarders. Mary was a widow with 8 children born, 6 living; immigrated in 1883. [It is not clear how Mary was a widow in 1900 and her husband died in 1908, one of these must be in error. Perhaps Mary and John were separated, why else would he be buried in St. Louis? It may be that Mary was visiting, and not a full-time resident.]

In 1910 Mary Anne lived in St. Louis, MO at 4615 Westminster Place with children Beatrice Anne Adams (24) and Harold Adams (15), mother Mary Anne (Croton) Robinson (72), and 11 boarders. Mary Anne was 50, a widow, with 8 children born, 5 living.

In 1917 son Harold Croton Adams lived in Alton, IL at 723 Alby; he was unmarried, worked as night foreman for Western Cartridge in East Alton.

In 1918 son Sidney John Adams lived in St. Louis, MO at 102 Glenn Road, Wesbster Grove. He was an office manager for A. G. Edwards & Sons in St. Louis on 410 Olive Street. He lived with wife Mabel Brown Adams.

In 1920 Mary Ann lived with daughter Beatrice (Adams) Williamson in Rochester, NY; Mary was a widow, 59, immigrated 1880, naturalized.

In 1920 son Sidney John Adams lived in Kirkwood, St. Louis, MO with wife Mabel B. (34 born MO to parents born PA), son William B. (6, born MO), and mother-in-law Mary L. Brown (63 born PA to parents born England and NY, widow). Sidney was 35 born MO to parents born Ireland and England, worked as stock broker.

In 1920 son Harold Croton Adams lived in St. Louis, MO as a boarder. He was 25, a clerk in a manufactury.

In 1930 Mary Ann lived with daughter Beatrice (Adams) Williamson in Evanston, IL; Mary was a widow.

In 1930 Mary Ann lived with daughter Beatrice and her husband John Williamson in Evanston, Il.

In 1930 son Sidney John Adams lived in Kirkwood, St. Louis, MO on South Kirkwood Road with wife Mabel B. (43 born MO to parents born PA), son William B. (17, born MO), and son Sidney J. Adams (6, born MO). Sidney was 45 born IL to parents born Northern Ireland and England, worked as stock broker.

In 1930 son Harold Croton Adams lived in Peoria, IL at 1129 West McClure Ave, with wife Julia (28, born IL to parents born IL, married at age 18) and son Robert (8, born IL). Harold was 35, married at age 23, worked as traveling salesman in barber supplies.

In 1942 son Harold Croton Adams lived in Creve Coeur Tazewell, IL at 416 High Street; he was married to Ethel, worked for Momel Supply Co. in Peoria, IL.

In Feb. 1963 son Sidney John Adams died in Missouri (per SSDI).

Beatrice Ann Adams

[some research by Susan Dorey]

Beatrice Ann was the fourth child of Mary Ann Robinson and Alexander Leigh Adams, she was born Dec. 8 1885 in Chicago, Illinois. She married John Laughlin Williamson (b. Feb. 20, 1882 in Clayton, NJ) on Oct. 21, 1911. They had two children:

- Cynthia Anne Williamson, b. Sept. 12, 1912 in Rochester, NY (or Sept. 16, 1912)
- Jean Mary Williamson, b. Dec. 8, 1913 in Rochester, NY. (or Dec. 3, 1913)

John was the son of William Alexander Williamson, b. Feb. 5, 1854, d. Apr. 17, 1916, m. Nov. 15, 1877 Ida Abigail Fisler. Ida was b. Jan. 31, 1853 Fislerville, NJ. William and Ida had children:

- Stanley Williamson, b. Mar. 31, 1879, m. June 21, 1919 Imogene Harber
- Samuel Fisler Williamson, b. Nov. 26, 1883.

The ancestry of William Alexander Williamson is detailed in *Mayflower Pilgrim Descendants in Cape May County, New Jersey* by Paul Sturtevant Howe, 2009, available on Google Books. William was a descendant of John Howland, the immigrant, through his mother.

In 1900 John L. Williamson, 18, lived in Clayton, NJ on Academy Street with his parents William A. (46, born Feb. 1853 NJ to father born PA and mother born NJ) and Ida A. (47, born Jan 1854 NJ to parents born NJ) and siblings Stanley (21, born Mar 1879 NJ) and Samuel F. (16, born Nov. 1883 NJ). John's father was a bookkeeper.

In 1910 John Williamson's parents William and Ida lived in Clayton, NJ with no children. [I could not find John or his brothers in the census.]

In 1918 Beatrice and John lived in Rochester, NY at 69 Alameda Street. John was the District Manager for B. F. Sturtevant Company in Rochester at 1108 Granite Bldg.

In 1920 Beatrice Williamson (32) lived in Rochester, NY with husband John (37), daughters Cynthia (7) and Jean (6), and mother Anne Adams (59). Beatrice was born MO. John was an electrical engineer.

On Feb. 5, 1927 Beatrice and John arrived New York on ship *Fort Victoria* from Hamilton, Bermuda. They lived at 546 Michigan Avenue, Evanston, IL.

On 19 Aug 1927 Beatrice A Williamson arrived Quebec on the *Empress of France* from Cherbourg, France; she was born in Chicago, Illinois on Dec. 8, 1885, lived at in Evanston, IL at 927 Michigan Avenue.

In 1930 Beatrice Williamson lived in Evanston, IL at 927 Michigan Avenue with husband John L. (46), daughters Cynthia A. (17) and Jean M. (16), and her mother Anne R. Adams (69, a widow), and one servant. Beatrice was 45, married at age 26, born IL. John was an engineer and Vice President of an engineering company.

In 1938 four Adams arrived New York on the *Nerissa* from Trinidad. They lived in Clearwater, Florida at 301 Hilltop Avenue. They were still living there when they returned from England in Sept. 1949, First class on the *Empress of Canada*. They had arrived on August 12th, sailing on the *Canadian Pacific*.

In 1945 Beatrice and John lived in Clearwater, FL at 301 Hilltop Avenue (per FL census). He was retired with a college education, she had a high school education and was a housewife.

On Sept. 26, 1949 Beatrice and John Williamson arrived Quebec on the *Empress of Canada* from Liverpool, England, first class. They lived in Clearwater, FL at 301 Hilltop Avenue. She was 65, born Chicago, IL. He was 67, born Clayton, NJ.

On Sep. 14, 1954 Beatrice A. Williamson arrived New York on the *Queen Elizabeth* from Southampton, England, first class; she was born Illinois and lived Gibson Island, Maryland. She traveled alone.

On Aug. 21, 1956 Beatrice A. Williamson arrived New York on the *Queen Mary* from Southampton, England, first class; she was born IL and lived Gibson Island, Maryland.

Gibson Island, MD is an island off the western shore of Chesapeake Bay, north of Annapolis. Today it is the 12th most expensive zip code in America.

Descendants of William Rushton Adamson J P, D L

First Generation

1. William Rushton Adamson J P, D L was born in 1825 in Macclesfield,

Cheshire.

General Notes: In 1861 he was an East India and China merchant. 6 servants

- In 1871 they had 10 servants. West Indies and ?
- In 1881 they had 7 servants living in.

Noted events in his life were:

He was a landowner in 1881 living at 69, Princes Gate, Brompton, Kensington, London. William married Fanny ______ Jun Q 1859 in Lambeth, London, daughter of

______ and ______. Fanny was born

in 1835 in Hanwell, Hertfordshire.

Marriage Notes: Marriages Jun 1859 Adamson William Rushton Lambeth 1D 344

Children from this marriage were:

M i. Malcolm Carey Adamson was born about 1874 in Battle, Sussex. General Notes: 1901 Living on his own means with his wife and a visitor, in Sunninghill, Berkshire.

Malcolm married Elsie Marguerite Howett Dec Q 1897 in Windsor,

Berkshire, daughter of Frank William Howett and Annie Amelia Lacey.

Elsie was born in 1875 in Wandsworth, Surrey.

General Notes: servant in 1881 was Grace Reading

F ii. Margaret Adamson.

- F iii. Leila Adamson.
- F iv. Mary Adamson.
- F v. Beatrice Adamson.
- M vi. Rushton Adamson.
- M vii. Stewart Adamson.
- M viii. Walter Adamson.
- M ix. Charles Adamson.
- M x. Norman Adamson.

F xi. Fanny M Adamson was born in 1861 in Pluckley, Kent.

Information from Vair Carr Lacey 2006

Mr. Lacey told me that his grandfather Ernest Matthew Lacey had four children: Robert S. Lacey born 1890, died 1945 Ernest Vair Sleigh Lacey born 1900 (Mr. Lacey's father) Frank Lacey died 1918 William Lacey died 1919

The grandfather married Emma Warner Sleigh in 1888.

I subsequently found five children born to Ernest and Emma, one died in infancy. Lorna Cowan found a 1893 divorce for Ernest and Emma. It is interesting that two children were born after that. We later discovered that the divorce was denied.

The Institution of Engineering and Technology

Publishes member obituaries on their website. http://www.theiet.org/about/libarc/archives/institution-history/obituaries-i-l.cfm

They have listings for:

LACEY, Ernest Matthew 1866 - 1945 JIEE Vol.93 Pt.I 1946 LACEY, Frederick William 1856 - 1915 JIEE Vol.54 1916 SILLAR, Arthur Molyneux 1865 - 1937 JIEE Vol.81 1937

no Clirehugh no Sleigh

RAF and Military Records

Most of these records are found at www.flightglobal.com/pdfarchive

THE LONDON GAZETTE, 15 SEPTEMBER, 1908. Robert Markwell Sleigh Lacey to be Second Lieutenant. Dated 24th September, 1908.

Royal Hospital Chelsea Pensioner Soldier Service Records, 1760–1920 in 1908 Robert Markwell Sleigh Lacey joined 31st Batt. County of London, age 18, regimental number 130

SUPPLEMENT TO THE LONDON GAZETTE, 15 SEPTEMBER, 1915. Corporal Frank Lacey, from a Provisional Battalion, to be Second Lieutenant. Dated 16th September, 1915.

THE LONDON GAZETTE, 26 FEBRUARY, 1915 INFANTRY. The undermentioned to be temporary Second Lieutenants. Dated 25th February, 1915: — Robert Markwell Sleigh Lacey

Flight, The Royal Air Force, 5-30-1918

Lieutenant F. P. SLEIGH LACEY, A.S.C., attached R.A.F., died on March 29th in hospital, of pleuro-pneumonia, at the age of 26.

Flight, The Royal Air Force, 10-1-1918

The following are granted temp. comms. as Sec. Lieut. W. G. Lacey, Temp. Lt. [I include this because the W. Lacey in the next entry may or may not be in this Lacey family]

SUPPLEMENT TO THE LONDON GAZETTE, 16 JUNE, 1919

Temp. Lt. W. Lacey relinquishes his commission . on account of ill-health contracted on active service, 17 June 1919, and retains the rank of Lt.

FLIGHT, FEBRUARY 2, 1922 (The Royal Air Force)
ROYAL AIR FORCE INTELLIGENCE
Appointments.—The following appointments in the Royal Air Force are notified :—
London Gazette, January 24, 1922 *General Duties Branch*The following Fit. Cadets having successfully passed out of R.A.F. (Cadet) College, are granted perm, commns. as Pit. Offrs., effect from Dec. 20 : E. V. S. Lacey,

FLIGHT, FEBRUARY 18, 1926 (The Royal Air Force) ROYAL AIR FORCE INTELLIGENCE Appointments.—The following appointments in the Royal Air Force are notified :— *Flying Officers:* E. V. S. Lacey, to No. 14 Sqdn., Palestine: 15.1.26

FLIGHT, DECEMBER 2, 1926 (The Royal Air Force) ROYAL AIR FORCE INTELLIGENCE Appointments.—The following appointments in the Royal Air Force are notified :— *Flying Officers:* E. V. S. Lacey to R.A.F. Depot, Uxbridge (Non-effective Pool), on transfer to Home Estabt., 4.11.26.

FLIGHT, FEPRUARY 10, 1927 (The Royal Air Force) ROYAL AIR FORCE INTELLIGENCE Appointments.—The following appointments in the Royal Air Force are notified :— *Flying Officers:* 1.10.26. E. V. S. Lacey, to No. 22 Sqdn., Martlesham Heath;

FLIGHT, MAY 12. 1927 (The Royal Air Force) ROYAL AIR FORCE INTELLIGENCE Appointments.—The following appointments in the Royal Air Force are notified :— *Flying Officers:* E. V. S. Lacey, to Home Aircraft Depot, Henlow, 29.4.27.

NOVEMBER 8, 1928 ROYAL AIR FORCE INTELLIGENCE Appointments.—The following appointments in the Royal Air Force are notified :— General Duties Branch *Flying Officers:* E. V. S. Lacey and V. Q. Blackden to No. 20 Sqdn., India. 20.10.28.

Card for Vair Carr Lacey dated 9-2-1948 certifying him as a student (Aero), Gives birth date as 4-14-1929 in Winchester, Hants.

9-9-1929 photo of Ernest Vair Sleigh Lacey from the RAF, provided by Lorna Cowan 1-1-2009.

FLIGHT, OCTOBER 25, 1929 (The Royal Aero Club of the United Kingdom) Aviators' Certificates.

8726 Ernest Vair Sleigh Lacey, R.A.F. Grad. [Note that the Royal Aero Club is the national aviation club in the UK: http://www.royalaeroclub.org]

THE LONDON GAZETTE, 7 JANUARY, 1930.

Air Ministry, 7th January, 1930. ROYAL AIR FORCE.

The undermentioned are promoted with effect from 8th Jan. 1930:— Flying Officers to be Flight Lieutenants. Ernest Vair Sleigh LACEY.

http://www.rafcommands.com/forum/archive/index.php/t-314.html for period 1.1.29–3.9.39 Flt Lt Lacey E V S Ernest Vair Sleigh Killed 24 Nov 31

THE LONDON GAZETTE, 1 MARCH, 1932.

Re Flight-Lieutenant ERNEST VAIR SLEIGH

LACEY, Deceased.

Pursuant to the Trustee Act, 1925. "NOTICE is hereby given that all creditors and 1. N other persons having any claims or demands upon or against the estate of Flight-Lieutenant Ernest Vair Sleigh Lacey, late of The Royal Air Force Station, Kenley, and of "Wold Croft," Hornchurch Lane, Whyteleafe, both in the county of Surrey (who died on the 24th day of November 1931, and whose Will was proved in the Principal Probate Registry of His Majesty's High Court of Justice on the 30th day of January, 1932, by Mrs. Eleanor Gwendolen Lacey, George Kaye Taylor and Ellis George Whately, the executors therein named), are hereby required to send particulars, in writing, of their claims or demands to us, the undersigned, the Solicitors for such executors, on or before the 7th day of May, 1932, after which date the said executors will proceed to distribute the assets of the said deceased among the parties entitled thereto, having regard only to the claims and demands of which they shall then have had notice.—Dated this 29th day of February, 1932. ROOPER and WHATELY. 17, Lincoln's Inn (175) Fields, London, W.C.2.

Civil Aircraft Register - Great Britain

http://www.goldenyears.ukf.net/reg_G-A.htm

 G DH.60G
 1135 G-AAJW
 EVS Lacey >Babar Nirza >HG Travers & CH Tutt/Stag 00.07.29 2082 Impressed 12.11.39 SOC

 AAJW
 Gipsy Moth
 X5040
 Lane >Phillips & Powis >LAM Dundas Earl of Ronalshay/ Sherburn >Yorkshire AC
 18.12.40 scrapped Aston Down

http://www.goldenyears.ukf.net/reg_G-A3.htm

 G DH.80A Puss
 2172 G-ABMG F Flt Lt Ernest
 Vair Sleigh
 Lacey/Stag Lane
 00.05.31 3176 Sold France 12.7.34

 ABMG
 Moth
 ANEZ
 >HB Reid/Stag Lane
 Canc .39

The Golden Years site is now (11-26-2017) http://www.airhistory.org.uk/gy/

"This site documents all the civil aircraft that flew during the Golden Years of aviation between the two world wars. I have attempted to compile a comprehensive list of aircraft registrations by country, and aircraft production by manufacturer, for this period."

https://webcache.googleusercontent.com/search?q=cache:iQFLbO-

1gW8J:sussexhistoryforum.co.uk/index.php%3Faction%3Dprintpage%3Btopic%3D12619.0+&cd= 9&hl=en&ct=clnk&gl=us&client=firefox-b-1

[I saved this page as a PDF]

EVSL was piloting a Puss Moth with one passenger, they were taking off from RAF Station Kenley when they collided with a second plane (a Bulldog) that was landing. The two men in the Moth died, the pilot of the second plane walked away with minor cuts about the face. The Moth was scrapped afterwards.

[Note the page avbove states Lacey's plane was a Puss Moth, but the Civil Aircraft Register above states the Puss Moth was sold to France, while the Gipsy Moth was "impressed" and scrapped soon after the collision. I cannot tell which plane Lacey was flying.]

The DH.60G Gipsy Moth was a de Havilland biplane. See a description on Wikipedia: <u>http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/De Havilland Gipsy Moth</u>

9-1948 Vair Carr Lacey

Got certificate as a student (Aero) at Auster Royal Aero Club, Great Britain. "Royal Aero Club Aviation Certificate."

Robert Richard Bignell

He is an interesting person. I've pieced together the following information about him. About 1853 he opened the Argyll Rooms on Great Windmill Street, a music and dancing club with a casino. In 1882 he converted them to the Trocadero Music Hall.

The ownership of the Argyll Rooms is not clear. Charles Emile Laurent had a music and dancing license there in 1850, 1853, and 1855. Robert Richard Bignell's . Charles Emile Laurent died May 23, 1857, age 38; his obituary said he was one of the Musical Directors of the Argyll Rooms and a Member of the Royal Society of Musicians.

The National Archives holds:

- Application for Music Licence for Argyll Rooms, 8 Great Windmill Street, Haymarket, by Charles Emile Laurent. (Cont. numb. 76). MR/LMD/6/1 1850
- Application for renewal of Music and Dancing Licence for Argyll Room, by Charles Emile Laurent. (Cont. numb. 141). MR/LMD/6/6 1853
- Application for renewal of Music and Dancing Licence for Argyll Room by Charles Emile Laurent. (Cont. numb.244). MR/LMD/6/8 1855
- Petition against transfer or grant of licence to Argyll Rooms (prop. Robert Richard Bignell) from householders in the Haymarket, Coventry Street, Piccadilly and Regent Street (Cont. numb.322). MR/LMD/6/10 1857
- Petition in favour of grant of Music and Dancing Licence to Robert Richard Bignell of Argyll Rooms from M. Anthony La 'Motte and members of the orchestra of the Adelaide Gallery, Strand (late of Argyll Rooms). MR/LMD/6/14 1858
- Petition against grant of licence to Argyll Rooms from inhabitants and householders in the Haymarket. MR/LMD/6/15 1858
- Petition against grant of licence to Argyll Rooms by Vestrymen, Churchwardens, Overseers and Governors and Directors of the Poor of St. James Westminster. MR/LMD/6/16 1858
- Application for renewal of Music and Dancing licence after lapse of twelve months from Robert Richard Bignell of Argyll Rooms, with petitions in favour. MR/LMD/6/17 1858

- Application for renewal of Music and Dancing licence from Robert Richard Bignell of Argyll Rooms. (Cont. numb. 343). MR/LMD/6/18 1869
- Petition against grant of Music and Dancing licence to Robert Richard Bignell of Argyll Rooms from parishioners of St. James Westminster (Cont. numb. 311). MR/LMD/6/19 1878
- Petitions in favour of grant of licence from parishioners and residents of Great Windmill Street and adjoining streets (Cont. numb.311). MR/LMD/6/20,21 1878
- Application for Music and Dancing licence for the Trocadéro (late Argyll Rooms) from Robert Richard Bignell. MR/LMD/6/22 1880Application for Music Licence for the Trocadéro from Robert Richard Bignell (Cont. numb.382). MR/LMD/6/23 1881
- Copy Petition against grant of Music Licence to Robert Richard Bignell from owners of property on the Arundel Estate, Haymarket, and inhabitants and ratepayers in vicinity of Trocadéro. MR/LMD/6/24 1881
- Copy Petition against grant of Music licence to Robert Richard Bignell from parishioners and inhabitants of the district of St. Peters, Great Windmill Street. MR/LMD/6/25 1881
- Plan of proposed concert hall (at Trocadero) by W.P. Padmore, Architect. MR/LMD/6/26 1881Application for Music Licence for Trocadero Restaurant from Robert Richard Bignell. (Cont. numb.364). MR/LMD/6/27 1882

There is an interesting article with photo on the Trocadero: <u>http://www.kzwp.com/lyons/troc.htm</u> It says the Argyll Rooms opened in 1851. "It attracted the nobility and the demi-monde (fringes of society) of the period and became famous for its masquerade balls. Because of the rooms notoriety the licence was not renewed and the Argyll Rooms closed in 1878. Between 1878 and 1895 the rooms were leased to a number of theatrical agents until 1895 when Bignell's granddaughter granted a 99-year lease to Lyons [J. Lyons and Company Ltd.]; Bignell having died in 1888."

The book *The English Bach Awakening* by Michael Kassler (2004), available on Google Books, says on page 441 the Argyll Rooms were established in 1850 by Charles Emile Laurent. The club's license was removed in 1857 and restored the following year. The index says Robert Richard Bignell lived from 1811 to 1888.

Henri Laurent was a composer and the music director at the Argyll Rooms. When the dancing license was withheld, Bignell transferred the business to the Adelaide Gallery.

There is a transcription of an ad for Laurent's Casino, Argyll Rooms placed in The Globe and Traveller, Wednesday, May 26, 1852 at <u>http://www.londonancestor.com/globe/adv-casino.htm</u>

There was a Laurent's Dancing Academy, but I don't know where.

There is a nice history of the area in which the Argyll Rooms were located at <u>http://www.british-history.ac.uk/report.aspx?compid=41453</u> "In 1842 the freehold of the building [built in 1744], the ninety-nine-year lease of which was about to expire, was bought by (Sir) John Musgrove of Austin Friars in the City of London. Seven years later the latter leased the exhibition and other rooms for twenty-one years to Robert Bignell, wine merchant, who had been Dubourg's partner or employee. (ref. 11) By 1851 Bignell had opened assembly rooms there called the Argyll Rooms The Argyll Rooms soon achieved notoriety . . . Bignell made a great fortune out of the place, and in 1864 he acquired the freehold of it but he was finally deprived of his licence for music and dancing and the Argyll Rooms closed on 30 November 1878. On 30 October 1882 Bignell re-opened his premises, this time as a music hall called the Trocadero Palace. . . . 'For elegance and comfort' the Trocadero was said to be superior to any other music hall in London, and its programmes were 'characterized by greater refinement, or perhaps we ought to say less vulgarity' than those of its rivals. Despite these

advantages the Trocadero only flourished during the fourteen months beginning in July 1886.... In 1888 Bignell died, and his trustees then leased the Trocadero to Samuel Adams.... In 1895 Bignell's grand-daughter granted a ninety-nine-year lease of the Trocadero to J. Lyons and Co. Ltd., who converted it to its present use as a restaurant. The principal entrance was moved from Great Windmill Street to Shaftesbury Avenue..."

An article originally from the London Saturday Review republished in the New York Times on Nov. 11, 1858 discusses the moral issues, especially prostitution, surrounding the closing of the Argyll Rooms in 1857 and their reopening the next year. <u>http://query.nytimes.com/mem/archive-free/pdf?_r=1&res=9407E3D61131EE34BC4952DFB7678383649FDE</u>

Butts Estate, Brentford, West London

The Butts Estate is a group of semi-detached houses built on a square in the 1870s in the Georgian style. They are well-regarded for their architecture and, lately, as the home of billionaires. "Butts" originated as an area used for archery butts in the time of Henry VIII. The first home, Brent House, was built about 1694. In 1876 Robert Richard Bignell, a property developer, acquired the property. The home called The Gables was built by Bignell in 1887. It is likely that William R. Lacey and his son Frederick W. Lacey rented The Gables and Brent House from Bignell in 1888 and 1889. In 1921 Emma (Bignell) Sleigh sold off much of the estate, including a dozen houses that are worth \$2 to \$6 million each now.

Photos:

http://www.geograph.org.uk/photo/909356

Rosary Cemetery, Norwich

Many Laceys are buried in Rosary Cemetery. Information about the burials with photographs is available on the FindAGrave website,

http://www.findagrave.com/cgi-bin/fg.cgi?page=cr&CRid=2258087 Click on the link "View all interments" to see a list from which you can access the record for each individual.

The following data was transcribed by Lorna Cowan in 2009 from the cemetery's records. These people were buried in the Lacey vault.

Rosary Regis- ter Ref	Vault	Birth Date	Name	Age	Death Date	Date of Interment	Details	Abode	Purchase r of Vault
3495	D/594	26 Oct 1815	Elizabeth (Lacey) Chaston	48yrs	10 May 1864	15 May 1864	Widow of Daniel Chaston	Heigham	William Isley
4530	D/595	20 Dec 1792	Elizabeth Lacey	78yrs	19 June 1871	23 June 1871	Wife of John Lacey builder of this city	St John	William Isley
6369	D/596		John Lacey	98yrs	25 Aug 1882	29 Aug 1882		Eaton	William Isley
6627	D/597	Apr 1 1820	Emily (Lacey) Andrews	60yrs	21 Feb 1884	26 Feb 1884	Wife of Arthur Thomas Andrews	Clapham, Surrey	William Isley

Rosary Regis- ter Ref	Vault	Birth Date	Name	Age	Death Date	Date of Interment	Details	Abode	Purchase r of Vault
7870	D/598	12 Jan 1818	Maria (Lacey) Woodrow	72yrs	01 May 1891	06 May 1891	Wife of George Woodrow	London N.E	William Isley
8363	D/599	17 Jun 1822	George Woodrow	71yrs	26 Dec 1893	29 Dec 1893		London	William Isley
8420	D/600	18 Sep 1811	James Wilkins Lacey	83yrs	25 Mar 1894	29 Mar 1894		St Peter Mountergat e	William Isley
10558	D/601		Arthur Thomas Andrews	86yrs	May 25 1907	May 30 1907	MICE	Chiswick	William Isley
13262	D/602		Matilda Warren Lacey	69yrs	May 7 1927	May 10 1927	Dau of J W Lacey	St.Peter Mancroft	William Isley
	D/522B		Horace Lacey	70 years	Apr 8 1899			Norwich	
	D/522B	7 July 1829	Sarah Anne Lacey	76 yrs	Dec 1 1905		wife of Horace	Norwich	
6831	C/I/364		Robert Kent	75yrs	15 Apr 1885	18 Apr 1885		Saint Andrews	Robert Kent
8722	C/I/364		Hannah Frances Kent	78yrs	14 Jan 1896	18 Jan 1896	Widow of Robert Kent	Lewisham, Kent	Robert Kent
14055	C/I/364		Frederick James Lacey	78 yrs	Apr 12 1932	Apr 15 1932		Lakenham	Robert Kent
14105	C/I/365		Frances Lacey	78 yrs	Aug 24 1932	Aug 27 1932		Eaton	Robert Kent
5369	L/1840		Martha Lacey	62yrs	27 May 1876	02 June 1876	Wife of John Grimwood Lacey	St George Tombland	John Grimwood Lacey
6424	L/1840	Jun 30 1813	John Grimwood Lacey	69yrs	16 Dec 1882	21 Dec 1882		St George Tombland	John Grimwood Lacey
12795	L/1840	Dec 26 1845	Arthur John Lacey	77yrs	Nov 10 1923	Nov 15 1923		Eaton	John Grimwood Lacey
14376	L/1840		Elizabeth Lacey	88yrs	Feb 27 1934	Mar 3 1934		Sheringha m	John Grimwood Lacey
	O3/363		Alfred James Lacey	31 yrs	Aug 29 1925		Husband of Rosa	Norwich	
	N/2204A	1839	William Lacey	67	Feb 10 1906			Norwich	
		1844	Hannah Lacey	67	Aug 11 1911		Wife of Horace	Norwich	
		1870	Laura Lacey		Aug 21 1936				

Barton Family

Per Chris Carter: John Everard (b. 1825) m. Sarah (d. 1872) and had 3 children that I know of... 2 you have in your tree... Everard William (b. 8-June-1849 died, I think in 1915) (married 27-June-1876) Frederick George (b. 29-Aug-1851) and the third is Charles Tom Barton (b. 6-Mar-1853) from who was one of my great-grandfathers.

Warner Family

The Warner family connects with the Laceys: Emma Warner Sleigh who married Ernest Matthew Lacey was the granddaughter of William Campbell Sleigh and Amelia Warner. William and Amelia were married 1-25-1843 in Waterperry, Oxfordshire where Amelia lived in 1841with her parents and sister.

Much of what I know about this family is compiled from the census. Amelia Warner's parents were William M. and Rachel Warner. William was born about 1789 in Great Brickhill, Buckinghamshire according to the 1861 census.

The Familysearch pilot has records for:

Marriage: William Mead Warner Mary Elizabeth Stone 18 Nov 1812 at St Mary, Aylesbury, Buckinghamshire

Rachel Watts Christened 10 June 1792 Fenny Compton, Warwick, England Parents Thomas and Sarah Watts

Thomas Warner Born 15 Aug 1816 Quainton, Buckinghamshire Parents William Warner and Elizabeth [This child might have died before the 1818 birth, if the parents were the same.]

Thomas Warner Born 13 Sep 1818 Leckhampstead, Buckinghamshire Parents Castard Warner and Elizabeth Warner [This is likely the Thomas Warner I found in the census, he matches on birth year and place. However his father is not William! In 2019 I came to doubt the first name of the father. I now think he was the first son of William Mead Warner and his first wife Elizabeth.]

Marriage: William Mead Warner Rachel Watts 24 July 1822 Saint Bride, Fleet Street, London, London, England

Amelia Warner

Birth, 28 June 1824 Mentmore, Berrystead,¹ Buckinghamshire, England Christened, 28 December 1824, St Michael, Paternoster Royal, London, England Parents: William Mead Warner and Rachel Maternal grandparents: Thomas Watts and Sarah.

Matilda Warner Birth, 29 November 1825 Christened, 08 August 1826 Wesleyan, Eaton Bray, Bedford, England Parents: William Mead Warner and Rachel Maternal grandparents: Thomas Watts and Sarah.

John Warner Birth: 8-10-1828 Berrystead, Buckinghamshire Christened: 1-21-1829 Paternoster Row, Wesleyan Methodist Registry, London Parents: William Mead Warner and Rachel Maternal grandparents: Thomas Watts and Sarah.

Marriage Thomas Warner Elizabeth Stilgoe 27 Oct 1834 at St Giles, Oxford

Ann Warner Born 22 Jun 1835 at Worminghall, Buckinghamshire Parents Thomas Warner and Elizabeth

Rachel Warner Burial: 3-14-1861 Hackney, Middlesex (part of London) This may or may not be the wife of William M. Warner. He was widowed by the 1861 census when he lived in Edmonton, Middlesex (part of London).

In 1851 John Warner, age 23 born Brentmore [Mentmore], Buckinghamshire, lived as head of household in Northallerton, Yorkshire; B. A. Curator of Northallerton.

In 1861 John Warner, age 33, born Mentmore, Buckinghamshire, lived as head of household in Bradwell, Essex with wife Anna Maria Warner, 27 born East Dulwich, Surrey; he was rector Bradwell Juxton Grove (?).

In 1871 John Warner, age 43, born Mentmore, Buckinghamshire, lived as head of household in Sedlescombe, Sussex with wife Anna Maria Warner, 36 born East Dulwich, Surrey; he was rector. In 1881 John Warner, age 53, born Mentmore, Buckinghamshire, lived as head of household in Sedlescombe, Sussex with wife Anna Maria Warner, 48 born East Dulwich, Surrey; he was clerk in holy orders. He lived with his in-laws Matthew and Mary Anderson, 82 and 78 respectively, born Ireland and Woolwich, Kent respectively. Mathew Anderson was Rector of Kimberton (SP?) and Vicar of Jukon (sp?) Maddsen Sallop (sp).

In 1891 John Warner, age 63, born Mentmore, Buckinghamshire, lived as head of household in Sedlescombe, Sussex with wife Anna Maria Warner, 57 born East Dulwich, Surrey; John was clerk in holy orders. There was one visitor Matthew Anderson, 92, born Ireland, widower, clerk in holy orders.

¹ Berristead is cited in the record, it is correctly spelled Berrystead.

It seems likely that John and Anna Maria had no children.

The IGI has an entry for Matilda Warner's baptism on 7-10-1837 at Worminghall, daughter of Thomas and Elizabeth Warner, which is believed to be a submitted entry. The date and location match that of the Matilda Warner in the 1861 census.

There were a number of Warners living in Leckhampstead, Buckinghamshire. There were also Warners living in Waterperry, Oxfordshire.

http://www.headington.org.uk/history/famous_people/latimer.htm

"Elizabeth Latimer died in 1843, and Edward on 18 November 1845. Under his will he instructed that Headington House [Oxford] and other land and property be sold, and the sale duly took place in June 1848. William Mead Warner, a speculative builder from Banbury, bought the land to the south of London Road, and laid out New Headington village in 1851: it then consisted of the present New High Street and Bateman Street, and the warren of small streets down as far as Wilberforce Street. His son William bought back the field now occupied by Kennett Road, which explains why that area was not developed until much later." Hmm, have found no other record of a son William.

[Banbury is a market town on the River Cherwell in northern Oxfordshire.]

The following entries represent an effort to find the parental family of William Mead Warner on the basis of living in Waterperry, Oxfordshire in 1841.

Catalogue of the papers of the Ashhurst family of Waterstock, Oxfordshire, 16th-20th cent. Bodleian Library, University of Oxford contains Notebook of genealogical notes on the Warner family compiled by Richard Warner, c.1660–81. Shelfmark: MS. Eng. misc. f. 863. Extent: 12 leaves

http://www.british-history.ac.uk/report.aspx?compid=45477

"Richard Warner, aged 62 (fn. 38), buried April 20, 1775." This gentleman was son of John Warner, Esq. a banker, who is mentioned in the Spectator, as having always worn black leathern garters buckled under his knees, a custom, which his son (who, in no other instance, affected singularity) is said to have religiously observed. He resided in an old house at Woodford-row, called Hearts, built anno 1617, by Sir Humphrey Handforth, Master of the Wardrobe to James I. who is said frequently to have dined there, when hunting in the forest. It afterwards came, by marriage, to the Onslows, and was the residence of Foot Onslow, Esq. father of the Speaker (fn. 39). This house is now the property of Jervoise Clark Jervoise, Esq. Here Mr. Warner, whose niece Mr. Jervoise married, planted a botanical garden, and was very successful in the culture of rare exotics. The herborizations of the apothecaries were made once a year in this neighbourhood, and the company dined together, after their morning's walk, at the house of Mr. Warner; who published the result of these annual researches, under the title of Plantæ Woodfordienses. He claims a place also among dramatic writers, having translated several of the comedies of Plautus. He published a letter to David Garrick, Esq. concerning a glossary to the Plays of Shakespeare, and had made large collections for an edition of his works; but desisted from his intention of preparing it for the press, on the appearance of Mr. Stevens's proposals. In his youth he had been remarkably fond of dancing; and it was not without some reluctance, (when he became more advanced in age,) that he turned the largest room in his house into a library. Mr. Warner bequeathed all his valuable books to Wadham College in Oxford, (where he received his education,) and left an exhibition for a botanical lecturer (fn. 42)." From: 'Woodford', The Environs of London: volume 4: Counties of Herts, Essex & Kent (1796),

pp. 273-287. URL: http://www.british-history.ac.uk/report.aspx?compid=45477 Date accessed: 19 April 2011.

Mysteries

- Did Emma Warner (Sleigh) Lacey marry Stamford Vair Clirehugh? This couple were cited in the 1911 census as married. Stamford joined the Army in August 1914, in 1915 he transferred to the Royal Army Service Corps and eventually served overseas. In a March 1918 letter to the Corps he said his wife was in a nursing home recovering from rheumatic fever. Stamford was discharged from the Corps in 1919. By 1920 he lived in Hove, Sussex. A Mrs. Clirehugh lived there per a 1915 phone book. Emma died there in 1929. Her probate record named her as Emma Lacey, wife of Ernest. I have found no marriage record for Emma and Stamford.
- Matilda Warner age 23, born about 1838 in Waring Hale (or Worming Hall), Buckinghamshire living in 1861 with William M. Warner as his granddaughter. She must be the child of an unknown son of WMW. As of April 2011 I found that WMW had a son John in 1828, making him too young to be the father of Matilda. Perhaps WMW had children from a previous marriage. I continued looking and found what appears to be an earlier marriage for WMW, in 1812. I also found a Thomas Warner born 1818 who had a daughter Matilda in 1837. So far so good. The 1861 census shows Thomas Warner living next door to James Warner, who was three years younger. Both born Leckhampstead, Buckinghamshire. This suggests they were brothers, however the only James (15) in the 1841 census lived in Leckhampstead with 50-year old Sarah (mother?), a lace maker, and siblings(?) Elizabeth (20) and George (15). Nearby was the family of William and Mary Ann Warner and five children. So the mystery continues, I cannot be sure that the Thomas who seems to be the father of Matilda was a son of WMW.
- Anne Rachel Warner (Sleigh) Barton makes her first census appearance in 1891 age 26 as a married woman. Her parents were William Arthur Warner Sleigh and Rachel Fanny Braithwaite Price who married in 1863 and divorced in 1867. Where was Anne prior to 1891? Perhaps she lived with her mother in the 1871 census? I did discover her mother remarried in 1868 and 1871. But have not found Anne in the 1871 or 1881 census.
- Who fathered Ernest Vair Sleigh Lacey who was born seven years after his mother Emma unsuccessfully filed to divorce Ernest Matthew Lacey?